# Converge System Administration Guide

Revision Date: November 2015

# Copyright

Copyright © 2015 Elavon, Incorporated. All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced or distributed without the prior consent of Elavon, Inc., Two Concourse Parkway, Suite 800, Atlanta, GA 30328.

## Disclaimer

Elavon, Inc., provides this publication *as is* without warranty of any kind, either expressed or implied. This publication could include technical inaccuracies or typographical errors. Changes are periodically made to the information herein. These changes will be incorporated in new editions of the publication. Elavon, Inc. may make improvement and/or changes in the product(s) and/or programs(s) described in this publication at any time.

## Trademarks

Converge is a registered trademark of Elavon, Inc. All other brand and product names are trademarks or registered trademarks of their respective companies:

ActiveX® Hypercom® Ingenico® MasterPass® Microsoft® Star Micronics®

# Preface

This document describes step by step procedures on how to use your Converge including:

- Configure and manage users
- Configure and manage account settings
- Configure your terminal and payment fields

This document is intended for all users of the Converge product and contains the information necessary for you to be able to use all the features of the product effectively.

# **Typographical Conventions**

Throughout this guide, you will see words and phrases that appear in different fonts and formats. The following list describes the typographical conventions used in this guide.

Bold text

Indicates a menu option, a window title, buttons, and so on that you can use to identify a part of the user interface.

Examples: **Print** or **Save As** dialog box

#### • Menu selection sequences

Indicates a series of menu options that you need to select in a particular sequence and listed in one step. Each menu option is separated by a pipe ( | ).

1. Choose File | Save As | File Name and enter the name of the document.

#### • Courier text

Indicate examples of software code. Usually this type of text is encapsulated in a code box as illustrated below.

```
Begin Header
<head>
<title>Batch Import</title>
</head>
End Header
```

#### • Bold courier text

Indicates a command that you would type into a command prompt window as illustrated below.

cd c:\users\

#### • Italicized text

Indicates that the word or phrase is:

• A reference to another document as illustrated below.

Refer to the Elavon User Guide.

• Emphasized for clarification as illustrated below.

You do not need to select Apply.

• The word is replacement text, such as a variable for a piece of code that you need to enter the appropriate value for your implementation as illustrated below.

```
<rml>
<country_code>Country Code</country_code>
</xml>
```

# **Related Documentation**

The following documents are available related to the Converge product.

- Converge Getting Started Guide
- Converge Transaction Processing Guide
- Converge Chip and PIN (EMV) Transaction Processing Addendum
- Converge Peripheral Device Installation and Setup Guide
- Converge Developer Guide

## **Revision History**

The following table provides a description of the changes made to this document from its origination to the current release.

Revision	Date	Revision Notes	
А	SEP-2014	Original release of the Converge System Administration Guide	
В	NOV-2014	Enhancement of password requirements	
С	MAR-2015	Addition of new peripheral devices	
D	NOV-2015	Setup changes for the new peripheral devices	

# **Table of Contents**

Chapter 1:	Configuration Menu Options	1
User Menu		2
Account Se	ttings Menu	2
Terminal M	enu	3
Merchan	t (Merchant Setup)	4
Payment	Form Menu	1
Advance	d Menu	5
Chapter 2:	Managing Users	ŝ
Creating a I	New User	ô
To Create	e New User Accounts	7
To Assigr	Rights to a User10	)
To Add T	erminal Associations to a User Profile14	1
To Create	e New User Account from Existing User Profile16	ŝ
То Сору	Terminal Associations to a New User20	)
Finding a U	ser Account	3
To Locate	e a User Account24	1
To Sort S	earch Results27	7
Editing a Us	er Account	3
To Edit U	ser Information28	3
To Edit U	ser Rights	2
To Ado	I User Rights	2
To Rer	nove User Rights	1
Editing Use	r Terminal Associations	5
To Add U	ser Terminal Associations	7
То Сору	Associations from Other Users	)
To Remo	ve User Terminal Associations43	3
Generating	User Reports	4

To Generate User Report for All Users and their Supervisors	
To Generate User Report for Supervisors and their Subordinates	48
Changing Your Password	52
Changing Your PIN	53
Updating Your Security Questions	55
Chapter 3: Managing Account Settings	
Adding a Login IP Address	
Deleting a Login IP Address	61
Chapter 4: Managing Terminals	64
Selecting a Terminal	64
Setting Up Merchant Information	67
To Update Merchant Information (Main Option)	68
To Update Terminal Information	70
To Update Payment Fields and Payment Sections	74
To Add New Payment Fields	74
To Delete Payment Fields	80
To Edit Payment Fields	83
To Rearrange Payment Fields	84
To Add New Payment Sections	
To Edit Payment Sections	90
To Delete Payment Sections	92
Configuring Your Printer	94
Setting Up Payment Forms	
Configuring Payment Forms	
To Create Header and Footer Text	
To Edit and Delete Header and Footer Text	
To Edit the Payment Form Color	
To Add a Header Logo to Display on Payment Form	
To Add a Background Image to Display on Payment Form	
To Remove Header Logo and Background Images from Payment Form	
To Preview Payment Form	111

Configuring Receipt Forms	
Configuring Email Options	
To Set Up Email Notification for Approved Transactions	
To Set Up Email Notification for Declined Transactions	
Setting Up Advanced Settings (Advanced Menu)	
Configuring System Setup	
To Configure Your HTTP Options	
To Configure Your Processing Options	
To Configure Your Signature Capture Device Options	
To Configure Your Export Options	
Customizing Error Messages	
Setting Up Fraud Prevention Rules	
To Update Auto Pend Settings	
To Update Merchant IP Address Settings	
To Update Mobile Payment Settings	
To Update IP Address Settings	
To Update Billing Country Settings	
To Update Shipping Country Settings	
To Update IP Address & Billing Country Mismatch Settings	
To Update IP Address & Shipping Country Mismatch Settings	
To Update Email Address Settings	
To Update Card Number Settings	
To Update Transaction Velocity Filter Settings	
To Update Email Domain Settings	
To Update Transaction Timeout Settings	
Setting Up Business Rules	
To Edit Business Rules	
To Delete Business Rules	
Additional Resource Guides	
Glossary	

# **Chapter 1: Configuration Menu Options**

When you launch Converge, the Main screen displays. Components of the Converge interface include:

- Support Menu Options (Refer to the Converge Getting Started Guide)
- Configuration Menu Options
- Transaction Menu Options (Refer to the Converge Getting Started Guide)



The **Configuration Options** contain the following menus:

- User
- Account Settings
- Terminal



# **User Menu**

User management is designed to help you create users, which allows you to set up the access and permissions for your employees. To access the **User** menu options, click **User**.

	S TERMINAL
Find / Edit	
Create New	
Change Password	
Change PIN	
Update Security Questions	

The following options are available:

• Find/Edit

Allows you to locate your individual users and access and edit information about them

Create New

Allows you to create a new user account

• Change Password

Allows you to change your own password

• Change PIN

Allows you to enter a new PIN

• Update Security Questions

Allows you to confirm your password, select desired questions and provide answer to each

# Account Settings Menu

**Account Settings** management is designed to help you set specific account level checks. To access the **Account Settings** menu option, click **Account Settings**.



There is only one option available, **IP Address Options**. This allows you to configure IP checks for your existing accounts.

# **Terminal Menu**

The **Terminal** menu displays after you have selected a terminal. To access the **Terminal** menu options, click **Terminal**.

USER	ACCOUNT SETTINGS	TERMINAL Merchant
		Payment Form
		Advanced

Terminal management is designed to help you with the following configurations:

#### • Merchant (Merchant Setup)

Allows you to set up the terminal, payment form and printer information for your company

#### • Payment Form (Payment Form Setup)

Allows you to set up various forms

• Advanced (Advanced Setup)

Allows you to set up the system and error messages

Terminal management menu items are further divided into submenus as follows:

## Merchant (Merchant Setup)

#### The Merchant (Merchant Setup) menu consists of:

USER ACCOUNT SETTINGS	TERMINAL		
	Merchant	Main	
Terminal	Payment Form	Terminal	
Terminal Management is designed to he		Payment Fields	hant Setup, which allows you to set up the
Terminal, Payment Form, Printer information for your comp Payment, Receipt, Email form. The Advance Setup function			Setup alows you to set different Form like the System and Error Messages.
<ul> <li>Merchant</li> </ul>			
Wain			

• Main

Allows you to view and edit merchant information

• Terminal

Allows you to view the set up information for a terminal

• Payment Fields

Allows you to create or modify the fields that appear on payment forms

• Printer

Allows you to configure the receipt printing options

#### **Payment Form Menu**

The Payment Form menu configuration consists of:

USER	ACCOUNT SETTINGS	TERMINAL				
Term	Terminal					
Payment	Payment Form Setup allows you to set different Form like Payment, Receipt, Email form.					
= Paym	<ul> <li>Payment Form</li> </ul>					
	Payment Form					
	Receipt Form					
_	E mail Earn					

E-mail Form

#### • Payment Form

Allows you to add custom headers and footers, define color and attach images to be displayed on the payment form

#### • Receipt Form

Allows you to define payment receipt form options

• E-mail Form

Allows you to setup approved and declined email notification options

# **Advanced Menu**

#### The **Advanced** menu configuration consists of:



#### • System Setup

Allows you to designate HTTP referral, specify settlement window, enable signature capture device and setup an export script

#### • Error Messages

Allows you to define custom error messages to appear in the payment form

#### • Fraud Prevention Rules

Customizable set of rules that allow you to build constraints to match your business needs and control how you handle transactions that include the ability to approve or decline transactions or return an error

#### Business Rules

Allows you to define custom rules for terminal-based transactions

# **Chapter 2: Managing Users**

This chapter provides information about how to manage users, including the following:

- Create new users
- Find user accounts
- Edit user accounts
- Edit user terminal associations
- Generate user reports
- Change passwords
- Change PINs
- Update security questions

# **Creating a New User**

To access a Converge account, you must be added to the system as an authorized user. The **Merchant Administrator** for an account controls the entire account and is allowed to:

- Create users (single users and multiple users who can log in and process transactions simultaneously)
- Create hierarchy of users with similar or varying degrees of permissions and access
- Delegate the ability to manage a hierarchy of users to another user

When you have a **Merchant Administrator** to control these functions, you can manage efficiently and create a system of accountability.

**Note:** We suggest that you create one or more separate users to manage day-to-day activities, including but not limited to: processing transactions, reviewing transactions, and settling transactions. It is strongly recommended that you keep your **Merchant Administrator** user account dedicated to administrative functions only.

Follow these procedures to create a user account:

- Create new user account
- Assign new user rights
- Add terminal associations to the user profile
- Create new user account from existing user profile
- Copy terminal associations to a new user

### **To Create New User Accounts**

To create a new user account follow these steps:

1. Select User | Create New.

USER ACCOUNT SETTINGS	TERMINAL
Find / Edit	
Create New	
Change Password	
Change PIN	
Update Security Questions	

The **Create New User** screen displays.

Create New User			
Complete all information and click Create at the bottom of the form to create a new user account. Note that all fields with an asterisk (*) are required.			
Enter New User Information			
User Information			
User ID: 😽			
Password: *			
Confirm Password: 🕂			
First Name:			
Last Name:			
Location:			
Phone:			
Extension:			
Email: 📉			
Active: Yes			
Supervisor: 💽 🗙			
Create User Clear			

#### Notes:

- All fields with an asterisk are required.
- Refer to the **Password Requirements** section in the *Converge Getting Started Guide* for password requirements information.
- 2. Enter the user's **User ID**.
- 3. Enter the user's **Password**.
- 4. Re-enter the user's password in the **Confirm Password** field.

Note: The next five fields are not required, but you can enter this information for the user if you wish: First Name, Last Name, Location, Phone number, and phone Extension.

5. Enter the user's **Email** address.

6. Select **Yes** or **No** from the drop-down list to indicate if **Active**.

Examples of new users who would not be active would be new hires that have not yet started work or employees out on medical leave. This field is set to **Yes** by default.

7. Select **Supervisor** from the drop-down list.

**Note:** The default **Supervisor** is the current user's **Supervisor** or the **Merchant Administrator**, if the user logged in is the **Merchant Administrator**.

8. Click Create User to add the new user account.

The **New User Confirmation** screen displays the fields that you entered on the **Create New User** screen along with a message to confirm that the user ID added successfully.

	New User Confirmation This page is used to confirm the new user information.			
@	Clerk1 - Adde	d successfully.		
	New User			
	User Inform	ation		
	User ID:	Clerk1		
	First Name:	Jane		
	Last Name:	Doe		
	Location:	Any City		
	Phone:	999-999-9999		
	Extension:			
	Email:	Any_email@email.com		
	Active:	Active		
	Supervisor:	Manager		
	Rights Terminals			

Note: Click Clear to clear all data entered on the Create New User screen.

# To Assign Rights to a User

User rights are specific access and permissions granted to a user. To assign rights to a user follow these steps:

1. On the New User Confirmation screen, click Rights.



#### The Edit User Rights screen displays.

Edit User Rights				
Update an existing user's rights				
Update Rights for: Clerk1				
Default Selection Options				
You may sti	II make individual selections)			
Virtual Terminal - Transactions				
Credit Card-Sale	Credit Card-Return	Credit Card-Inquiry		
Credit Card-Force	Credit Card-Auth Only	Credit Card-AVS Only/Verification		
Credit Card-Recurring	Credit Card-Installment	Credit Card-Multientry		
t Import Batch	Recurring Import	Debit Card		
virititan				
Export Transactions				
Level 3				
Level 3				
	Update Clear All	Cancel		

**Note:** The user rights that display in this window are dependent on the user rights of the user currently logged in. You cannot grant a right to a subordinate unless your profile has the right to do so.

- 2. In the **Default Selection Options** drop-down list, select one of the following:
  - Standard
  - Manager
  - Administrator

#### Notes:

- The default is a blank value. No options are selected.
- When you select either **Standard**, **Manager** or **Administrator**, you still have the option to manually select and de-select user rights.
- The rights within each section are described in the **Glossary** section of the *Converge Getting Started* Guide.

If you selected **Standard**, the system selects all rights with the exception of the following:

- Rights within the Virtual Terminal-Transactions section associated with any Return, Credit, Activation, Reload, and Import Batch transaction types
- Rights within the Virtual terminal Tokenization section
- Rights within the Virtual Terminal-Batch section
- Rights within the Virtual Terminal-Export Script section
- Rights within the **User Management** section
- Rights within the **Terminal Management** section

If you selected Manager, the system selects all rights with the exception of the following:

- Rights within the **User Management** section
- Rights within the **Terminal Management** section
- Rights for the Virtual Terminal-Export Script for the manager

If you selected Administrator, the system selects all rights.

**Note:** If you click **Cancel**, the window closes and the user rights that were selected are not updated. If you click **Clear All**, all the users rights will be reset (unchecked).

3. Click Update.

The **New User Confirmation** screen displays a message that the rights for that user ID updated successfully.

New User Confirmation							
٦	This page is used to confirm the new user information						
¢	lerk1 - Right	s Updated successfully.	)				
	New User		Ì				
	User Inform	ation					
	User ID:	Clerk1					
	First Name:	Jane					
	Last Name:	Doe					
	Location:	Any City					
	Phone:	999-999-9999					
	Extension:						
	Email:	Any_email@email.com					
	Active:	Active					
	Supervisor:	Manager					
	Rights	Terminals					

#### Notes:

- The **Default Selection Options** (such as **Manager**) are not saved with the user rights. This pre-set saves you time and allows you not to have to click each user right individually.
- The rights are not saved until you click the **Update** button.

# To Add Terminal Associations to a User Profile

When you add a new user, you have to specify the terminals to which the user's login provides access.

1. On the New User Confirmation screen, click Terminals.

The Terminal Associations screen displays.

Terminal Associations						
Enter a new terminal association	Enter a new terminal association					
Terminal Associations for: Clerk	1					
uses Tomissius Tomissiu		DIN Comment				
User Terminal Name Terminal ID	Market PIN PIN Length I	PIN Format				
Terminal List · 9 items						
Friendly Name 🗢	Terminal ID 🗢					
ABC Company	888888999990000888888					
E4 CAN INTERNET	0089250008021901387000					
E4 CAN MOTO	0089250008021901395000					
E4 CAN RETAIL	0089250008021901361000					
E4 CAN SERVICE	0089250008021901379000					
E4 US Internet	001734080219012880000					
E4 US MOTO	0089250008021902526000					
E4 US Retail	0017340009997772229998					
E4 US SERVICE	0017340009997772229997					
	Display: 25					
Edit User Copy Associations From Other User						

2. Select the terminal you wish to add to the user profile from the list.

The screen updates showing the terminal association and displays a message that the terminal added successfully.

Terminal Assoc	iations	
inter a new terminal asso	ciation	
000000000000000000000000000000000000000	Added successfully	
-		
Terminal Associations &	H: Clerkt	
User Terminal Te	erminal ID Market PN	PN Leagth PN Format
Clerk1 ABC Company BI	00000000000000000000000000000000000000	SR 1155WLBETOFEBYOSXDVGGGL5AGBKRARJVSPDCR 1FLBTGGCU8GGBG15WCY3 64 💌 alphanumeric 💌 Change PDN Delete
Terminal List - 8 terms Friendly Name	Terminal ID .	
E4 CAN INOTO	0088250008021901395000	
E4 CAN RETAIL	0088250008021901361000	
E4 CAN SERVICE	0088250008021901379000	
E4 US Internet. E4 US MOTO	001734080219012880000 0088250008021902528000	
E4 US Retail	0017340009997772229995	
E4 US SERVICE	0017340009997772229997	
	Display: 25 💌	
Edit User Cop	y Associations From Other User	
		J

- **Note:** For each new terminal association, a new PIN is automatically generated. The new PIN can be used to process transactions from an integrated application, a Web site, or the Converge Mobile App. PINs can be 64, 32, 6, 5 or 4 characters in length. It is recommended to always use a length of 64 characters for maximum security.
- 3. To associate an additional terminal to the user account, select another terminal from the **Terminal List**.
- 4. To replicate the terminal associations from another user, click **Copy Associations From Other User**.

**Note:** If terminals are already associated to the user a message will appear that all existing terminal associations for the user will be removed and replaced with the terminal associations from the selected user.

# To Create New User Account from Existing User Profile

This feature allows you to create a new standard user profile from an existing standard user profile. You must have **Create Subordinates** user rights and the standard user profile that will be copied to create the new standard user profile must exist.

1. Select User | Find/Edit.

USER ACCOUNT SETTINGS
Find / Edit
Create New
Change Password
Change PIN
Update Security Questions

The Find/Edit User screen displays.

Find / Edit User						
Locate an existing user.						
User Information						
User ID:						
First Name:						
Last Name:						
Active: Active						
Display: 25 💌						
Find Clear						

- 2. Enter the relevant information in the search fields to choose an existing standard user profile or leave blank to find all users.
- 3. Click **Find**.

Find / Edit User								
Locate an existing user.								
User ID: clerk First Name: Last Name: Active: Active Display: 25 Find Clear								
User List	User List Download							
• 6 items								
🔟 User ID 🗣	First Name 🖨	Last Name 🖨	Location	Supervisor	Active			
Clerk1	Jane	Doe	Any City	Manager	Y			
D StoreClerk	Store	Clerk	Atlanta	000004	Y			
StoreClerk2				000004	Y			
SupermartClerk2				000004	Y			
SupermartClerk3				000004	Y			
SupermartClerk5				000004	Y			
Select All Unselect All	Сору	User	Supervis	or Report				

The **User List** search results table displays the users defined by the search.

4. Select the check box next to the user profile you wish to copy.

**Note:** You *cannot* choose more than one user profile.

5. Click **Copy User**.

The **Copy User** screen displays.

Copy User					
Complete all information and click Copy User at the bottom of the form to copy a new user account. Note that all fields with an asterisk (*) are required.					
Enter New User Ir	formation				
User Information					
Account ID:	000004 🔆				
User ID:		*			
Password:		*			
Confirm Password:		×			
First Name:					
Last Name:					
Location:					
Phone:					
Extension:					
Email:		*			
Active:	Yes 💌				
Supervisor:	Manager 💌 Ӿ				
Сор	y User Clear				

**Account ID** is pre-populated with the account ID of the existing user profile and cannot be changed.

- 6. Enter new User ID.
- 7. Enter Password.
- 8. Re-enter password in the **Confirm Password** field.

Note: The next five fields are not required, but you can enter this information for the user if you wish: First Name, Last Name, Location, Phone number, and phone Extension.

- 9. Enter **Email** address.
- 10. Select **Yes** or **No** from the drop-down list to indicate if **Active**.
- 11. Select **Supervisor** from the drop-down list.

12. Click **Copy User** to add the new user account.

The **New User Confirmation** screen displays and a new user profile is created with the same rights, terminal associations, account and **Supervisor** as the existing user profile.

New User Confirmation This page is used to confirm the new user information.					
Clerk2 - Addeo	d successfully.				
New User					
User Informa	User Information				
User ID:	Clerk2				
First Name:	Jane				
Last Name:	Smith				
Location:	Any City				
Phone:	999-999-9999				
Extension:					
Email:	AnyEmail@email.com				
Active:	Active				
Supervisor:	Manager				
Rights	Terminals				

Note: The Copy User button is disabled when there are 5,000 users for the account (VID).

Converge also does the following:

- Validate that there are less than 5,000 active users for the account ID (VID).
- Generate a new PIN for each terminal association created on the new user profile.
- If less than 5,000, create a new standard user profile with:
  - Only the user rights from the existing standard user profile that the logged in user already has.
  - Only the terminal associations from the existing standard user profile that the logged in user already has access to except for the PIN.
  - A status of **Unlocked**.

You may choose to update the rights and/or the terminal associations for the new standard user just created.

#### Notes:

- Rights can be copied from existing user profiles that are **Active** or **Not Active**.
- Rights can be copied from existing user profiles with a status of Locked or Unlocked.
- Uses the same security features that currently exist, which includes users only being allowed to add terminals to a user profiles that the logged in user already has access.
- The user rights have the same restrictions.
- Users cannot change the pre-populated **Account ID** field.

### To Copy Terminal Associations to a New User

This feature allows you to copy the terminal associations from an existing user profile to the new user profile. You must have **Edit User Rights** and **Edit Terminal Associations** rights. The user profile from which the terminal associations are to be copied and the new user profile to which the terminal associations are to be copied must exist.

**Note:** All existing terminal associations for the user profile will be removed and replaced with the new associations. A new PIN is generated for each terminal including existing (shared) terminals. If you are using an integrated application, you must update your terminals with the new PINs to prevent interruption of service.

1. On the New User Confirmation screen, click Terminals.

**Note:** Refer to the <u>To Create New User Account from Existing User Profile</u> section and select an existing user profile from which the terminal associations are to be copied.

Terminal Associations					
Enter a new terminal as	sociation				
(T					
Terminal Associations	for: Clerk1				
User Terminal Name	Terminal ID Market PIN PIN Length PIN Format				
Terminal List · 9 items					
Friendly Name 🖨	Terminal ID 🗢				
ABC Company	888888999990000888888				
E4 CAN INTERNET	0089250008021901387000				
E4 CAN MOTO	0089250008021901395000				
E4 CAN RETAIL	0089250008021901361000				
E4 CAN SERVICE	0089250008021901379000				
E4 US Internet	001734080219012880000				
E4 US MOTO	0089250008021902526000				
E4 US Retail	0017340009997772229998				
E4 US SERVICE	0017340009997772229997				
	Display: 25 💌				
Edit User C	Copy Associations From Other User				

The **Terminal Associations** screen displays.

2. Click **Copy Associations From Other User** to copy the terminal associations from the selected existing user to the new user.

The **Copy Terminal Associations** screen displays a list of existing users from which to select.

Copy Terminal Associations							
Select one User Profile from which terminal associations will be copied							
User Information							
First Name:							
Last Name:							
Active: Active							
Display: 25							
Find Clear							
	1						
User List							
+ 7 items							
🔲 User ID 🖨	First Name 🖨	Last Name 🗢	Location	Supervisor	Active		
Clerk1	Jane	Doe	Any City	Manager	Y		
Clerk2	Jane	Smith	Any City	Manager	Y		
StoreClerk	Store	Clerk	Atlanta	000004	Y		
StoreClerk2				000004	Y		
SupermartClerk2				000004	Y		
SupermartClerk3				000004	Y		
SupermartClerk5				000004	Y		
Copy Terminal Associations Cancel							

**Note:** If terminals are already associated to the user a message will appear that all existing terminal associations for the user will be removed and replaced with the terminal associations from the selected user.

3. Select the existing user profile and then click **Copy Terminal Associations**.

Converge does the following:

- Copies the terminal associations from the selected existing user to the user profile.
- Displays the **Terminal Associations** screen for the user profile with all terminal associations copied from the existing user.
- Generates a new PIN for each terminal association copied to the new user profile.
- Displays the terminal associations copied to the new user profile.

#### Notes:

Converge can do the following:

- Copy to existing user profiles that are Active or Not Active.
- Copy from existing user profiles that are **Active** or **Not Active**.
- Copy to existing user profiles with a status of **Locked** or **Unlocked**.
- Copy from existing user profiles with a status of **Locked** or **Unlocked**.
- Copy from only one existing user profile.
- Use the same security features that currently exist, which includes users only being allowed to add terminals to a user that the logged in user already has access to.

# Finding a User Account

Sometimes it becomes necessary to modify users' accounts after they are granted access to the application. Converge allows you to search for existing user profiles. Each field is partial-search capable, which means you can use only the first letter or first few letters of your search criteria to search fields. The search is not case-sensitive (so DEBBIE, Debbie or debbie are all the same for search purposes). You can use a single field or multiple fields to narrow your search.

The Find/Edit User function allows you to do the following:

- Locate subordinate users and peers
- Change the sort order of the search results

## To Locate a User Account

#### 1. Select User | Find/Edit.



The **Find/Edit User** screen displays. The **Find/Edit User** function allows the currently logged in user to locate and manage all of their subordinate users and peers. This function is also a user right that can be enabled or disabled for each user.

Find / Edit User						
Locate an existing user.						
User Information						
User ID:						
First Name:						
Last Name:						
Active: Active -						
Display: 25 💌						
Find Clear						

2. Enter the relevant information in the search fields or leave blank to find all users.

Search Field	Description
User ID	Searches for all user IDs that match the first characters entered in this field.
First Name	Searches for all first names that match the first characters entered in this field.
Last Name	Searches for all last names that match the first characters entered in this field.
Active	Searches for active, inactive or all users based on the selection.

3. In the **Display** drop-down, select the number of records you want to be shown at a time.

Find / Edit User						
Locate an existing user.						
User Inform	ation					
User ID:	clerk					
First Name:						
Last Name:						
Active:	Active					
Display:	25 💌					
	25  50  75	ear				
	100					
	250 500					
	750 1000					

**Note:** The **Display** drop-down list allows you to view users on screen in increments of 25, 50, 75, 100, 250, 500, 750 or 1,000. This feature allows your browser to work more efficiently. You get faster results when more items display per page.

4. Click Find.

Find / Edit User					
Locate an existing user.					
User Information User ID: clerk First Name: Last Name: Active: Display: 25					
Find Clear User List		_	_	Do	wnload
	First	Last	Location	Supervisor	Active
🔲 User ID 🖸	Name 🖨	Name 🖨		Supervisor	Acuve ♦
Clerk1	Jane	Doe	Any City	Manager	Y
StoreClerk	Store	Clerk	Atlanta	000004	Y
StoreClerk2				000004	Y
SupermartClerk2				000004	Y
SupermartClerk3				000004	Y
SupermartClerk5				000004	Υ
Select All Unselect All	Сору	User	Supervis	or Report	

The **User List** search results table displays all users defined by the search.

The search results table displays the **User ID**, **First Name**, **Last Name**, **Location**, **Supervisor** and indicates if the user is **Active** or not. The headings allow you to find and access users' accounts quickly.

Column Headers	Description
User ID	This column displays the user IDs that match the search criteria. This field is a hyperlink that links to the <b>Edit User</b> screen with the selected user's information displayed there.
First Name	This column displays the first names of the user IDs that match the search criteria.
Last Name	This column displays the last names of the user IDs that match the search criteria.

Column Headers	Description
Location	This column displays the locations of the user IDs that match the search criteria.
Supervisor	This column displays the Supervisors of the user IDs that match the search criteria.
Active	This column displays the statuses of the user IDs that match the search criteria. If the user ID is active, the letter <b>Y</b> for yes displays in the column. If the user ID is inactive, the letter <b>N</b> for no displays in the column.

**Note:** If you do not define any search criteria and click **Find**, the system displays all current user's peers and subordinates.

## **To Sort Search Results**

As mentioned in the note above, if you do not define any search criteria and click **Find**, the system displays all current user's peers and subordinates.

To change the sort order of the search results table, click any of the six column headers of the search results table.

• 7	items					
	User ID 🖨	First Name 🗢	Last Name	Location	Supervisor	Active
	StoreClerk	Store	Clerk	Atlanta	000004	Y
	Clerk1	Jane	Doe	Any City	Manager	Y
	Clerk2	Jane	Smith	Any City	Manager	Y
	SupermartClerk3				000004	Y
	SupermartClerk2				000004	Y
	SupermartClerk5				000004	Y
	StoreClerk2				000004	Y

**Note:** The first click on a header sorts the data in alphabetical order from A to Z. The sort order reverses if you click the column header twice.

# **Editing a User Account**

The **Edit User** screen allows you access to basic information for a specific user account. You can modify a single field or multiple fields simultaneously for a user.

To edit a user account, you may have to do one or more of the following:

- Find user accounts
- Edit user information
- Edit user rights
- Edit user terminal associations

### **To Edit User Information**

1. Find the user you want to edit by following the instructions under the <u>Finding a User</u> <u>Account</u> section.

User List Download						
• 6	items					
	User ID 🖨	First Name 🗢	Last Name 🗢	Location	Supervisor	Active
	Clerk1	Jane	Doe	Any City	Manager	Y
	StoreClerk	Store	Clerk	Atlanta	000004	Y
	StoreClerk2				000004	Y
	SupermartClerk2				000004	Y
	SupermartClerk3				000004	Y
	SupermartClerk5				000004	Y
	Select All Unselect A	All Copy	User	Supervis	or Report	

2. Click the User ID you want to edit in the User List table.
## The **Edit User** screen displays.

Edit User	
Update an Existing User.	. Note that all fields with an asterisk (*) are required.
Update	
User Information	
User ID:	Clerk1
First Name:	Jane
Last Name:	Doe
Location:	Any City
Phone:	999-999-9999
Extension:	
Email:	Any_email@email.com 🔆
Password:	••••••• <del>X</del>
Supervisor:	Manager 💌
Active:	Yes
Status:	Unlocked
Update Rights	Terminals Update and Reset Security Questions Cancel

3. Make the desired changes to the selected user:

User Fields	Description
User ID	Displays the user ID for the selected user. This value cannot be edited.
First Name	Enter or change the user's first name.
Last Name	Enter or change the user's last name
Location	Enter or change the user's location.
Phone	Enter or change the user's phone number.
Extension	Enter or change the user's phone extension.
Email	Enter or change the user's e-mail address. This field is required.

User Fields	Description		
Password	Change the selected user's password. Refer to the <b>Password Requirements</b> section in the <i>Converge Getting Started Guide</i> for more information about how to change the password according to the system requirements. This field is required.		
Supervisor	Change the Supervisor of the selected user.		
Active	Activate or deactivate the selected user ID.		
	<b>Note:</b> You can have a maximum of 5,000 active users associated with an account (VID). If you attempt to add a user to an account that already has 5,000 active users, the system will display an error message and you will not be allowed to add the user. You must deactivate a user from the system to lower the total number of active users.		
Status	Lock or unlock a user's ability to login.		
Update button	Saves changes.		
Rights button	Configures the options that this user can access.		
Terminals button	Adds terminal associations to the currently selected user.		
Cancel button	Abandons changes.		

4. Click **Update** to save the changes.

The **Edit User** screen closes and **Find/Edit** screen displays a message that the user information updated successfully.

Find / Edit User					
Locate an existing user.					
Clerk1 - Updated successfully. User Information User ID: clerk First Name: Last Name: Active: Active Display: 25 Find Clear					
User List				Do	wnload
7 items					
🔲 User ID 🖨	First Name 🖨	Last Name 🖨	Location	Supervisor	Active
Clerk1	Jane	Doe	Any City	Manager	Y
Clerk2	Jane	Smith	Any City	Manager	Y
StoreClerk	Store	Clerk	Atlanta	000004	Y
StoreClerk2				000004	Y
SupermartClerk2				000004	Y
SupermartClerk3				000004	Y
SupermartClerk5				000004	Y
Select All Unselect All	Сору	User	Supervis	or Report	

**Note:** Click the **Update** button to save changes made to the **Edit User** screen by before you select either the **Rights** or **Terminals** button. If not, the changes will be lost.

## **To Edit User Rights**

You may include one or more of the following to edit user rights:

- Find the user account
- Add user rights
- Remove user rights

#### To Add User Rights

- 1. Find the user you want to edit by following the instructions under the <u>Finding a User</u> <u>Account</u> section.
- 2. Click the **User ID** in the **User List** table.

• 6	items					
	User ID 🖨	First ame 🗢 🗌	Last Name 🗢	Location	Supervisor	Active
	Clerk1	Jane	Doe	Any City	Manager	Y
Π	StoreClerk	Store	Clerk	Atlanta	000004	Y
	StoreClerk2				000004	Y
	SupermartClerk2				000004	Y
	SupermartClerk3				000004	Y
	SupermartClerk5				000004	Y

### The **Edit User** screen displays.

Edit User	
Update an Existing User. N	ote that all fields with an asterisk (*) are required.
Update	
User Information	
User ID:	Clerk1
First Name:	Jane
Last Name:	Doe
Location:	Any City
Phone:	999-999-9999
Extension:	
Email:	Any_email@email.com
Password:	••••••• <del>×</del>
Supervisor:	Manager 💌
Active:	Yes 💌
Status:	Unlocked 💌
Update Rights	Terminals Update and Reset Security Questions Cancel

3. Click the **Rights**.

#### The Edit User Rights screen displays.

Edit User Rights		
Update an existing user's right	S	
Update Rights for: Clerk1		
Default Selection Options		
(You may s	till make individual selections)	
Virtual Terminal - Transactions	)	
Credit Card-Sale	Credit Card-Return	Credit Card-Inquiry
Credit Card-Force	Credit Card-Auth Only	Credit Card-AVS Only/Verification
Credit Card-Recurring	Credit Card-Installment	Credit Card-Multientry
it Import Batch	Recurring Impod	Debit Card
Export Transactions		
Level 3		
Level 3		
	Update Clear All C	Cancel

4. Select appropriate check boxes (rights) as required for the selected user.

#### 5. Click Update.

The system updates the application, returns you to the **Edit User** screen and displays a message that rights for the user ID updated successfully.

#### To Remove User Rights

1. Find the user you want to edit by following the instructions under the <u>Finding a User</u> <u>Account</u> section. 2. Click the **User ID** in the **User List** table.

User	List					Do	wnload
• 6	items						
	User ID 🖨		First Name 🗢	Last Name 🗢	Location	Supervisor	Active
	Clerk1		Jane	Doe	Any City	Manager	Y
	StoreClerk		Store	Clerk	Atlanta	000004	Y
	StoreClerk2					000004	Y
	SupermartClerk2					000004	Y
	SupermartClerk3					000004	Y
	SupermartClerk5					000004	Y
	Select All	Unselect All	Сору	User	Supervis	or Report	

The Edit User screen displays.

Edit User	
Update an Existing Use	r. Note that all fields with an asterisk (¥) are required.
Update	
User Information	
User ID:	Clerk1
First Name:	Jane
Last Name:	Doe
Location:	Any City
Phone:	999-999-9999
Extension:	
Email:	Any_email@email.com
Password:	••••••• <del>*</del>
Supervisor:	Manager
Active:	Yes 💌
Status:	Unlocked 💌
Update Rights	Terminals Update and Reset Security Questions Cancel

3. Click **Rights**.

#### The Edit User Rights screen displays.

Edit User Rights		
Update an existing user's right	5	
Update Rights for: Clerk1		
Default Selection Options		
(You may s	till make individual selections)	
Virtual Terminal - Transactions	)	
Credit Card-Sale	Credit Card-Return	Credit Card-Inquiry
Credit Card-Force	Credit Card-Auth Only	Credit Card-AVS Only/Verification
Credit Card-Recurring	Credit Card-Installment	Credit Card-Multientry
#t Import Batch	Recurring Import	Debit Card
الألف القالية.		
Export Transactions		
Level 3		
Level 3		
	Update Clear All C	ancel

- 4. Clear appropriate check boxes (rights) as required for the selected user.
- 5. Click Update.

The system updates the application, returns you to the **Edit User** screen and displays a message that rights for the user ID updated successfully.

## **Editing User Terminal Associations**

You may perform one or more of the following to edit user terminal associations:

- Add user terminal associations
- Copy associations from other users
- Remove user terminal associations

## **To Add User Terminal Associations**

- 1. Find the user you want to edit by following the instructions under the <u>Finding a User</u> <u>Account</u> section.
- 2. Click the User ID in the User List table.

User	List				Do	wnload
• 6	items					
	User ID 🖨	First Name 🗢	Last Name 🗢	Location	Supervisor	Active
	Clerk1	Jane	Doe	Any City	Manager	Y
	StoreClerk	Store	Clerk	Atlanta	000004	Y
	StoreClerk2				000004	Y
	SupermartClerk2				000004	Y
	SupermartClerk3				000004	Y
	SupermartClerk5				000004	Y
	Select All Unselect A	All Copy	User	Supervis	or Report	

The Edit User screen displays.

Edit User	
Update an Existing Us	er. Note that all fields with an asterisk (¥) are required.
Update	
User Information	
User ID:	Clerk1
First Name:	þane
Last Name:	Doe
Location:	Any City
Phone:	999-999-9999
Extension:	
Email:	Any_email@email.com
Password:	••••••• <del>X</del>
Supervisor:	Manager 💌
Active:	Yes 💌
Status:	Unlocked
Update Rights	Terminals Update and Reset Security Questions Cancel

#### 3. Click Terminals.

The Terminal Associations screen displays.

Terminal Associatio	ons
Enter a new terminal association	
Terminal Associations for: Cler	k1
User Terminal Name Terminal I	D Market PIN PIN Length PIN Format
Terminal List · 9 items	
Friendly Name 单	Terminal ID 🖨
ABC Company	8888880000000000888888
E4 CAN INTERNET	0089250008021901387000
E4 CAN MOTO	0089250008021901395000
E4 CAN RETAIL	0089250008021901361000
E4 CAN SERVICE	0089250008021901379000
E4 US Internet	001734080219012880000
E4 US MOTO	0089250008021902526000
E4 US Retail	0017340009997772229998
E4 US SERVICE	0017340009997772229997
	Display: 25
Edit User Copy Asso	ciations From Other User

4. Select the terminal you wish to add to the user profile from the list.

The screen updates showing the terminal association and displays a message that the terminal was successfully added.

Terminal Assoc	iations					
inter a new terminal assoc	sation					
000000000000000000000000000000000000000	Added successfully.					
Terminal Associations &	e Clend					
User Terminal Te	rminal ID	Market PN			PIN Length	PNFormat
Clerk1 ABC Company 80	000000000000000000000000000000000000000	Internet KR0D6R18	SWLBETOFEBYORXDVGOOLS	GBKRARJYSPDCR1FL8TG0CU00G8	015WCY3 64 💌	alphanumeric Change PIN Delete
Terminal List - 8 items						
	Terminal ID	11202000				
E4 CAN INTERNET	008925000802190					
E4 CAN INTERNET E4 CAN INOTO		01305000				
E4 CAN INTERNET E4 CAN INOTO E4 CAN RETAIL	008825000802190	01395000 01361000				
E4 CAN INTERNET E4 CAN INOTO E4 CAN RETAL E4 CAN SERVICE	008825000802190 008825000802190 008825000802190	01305000 01361000 01379000				
E4 CAN IROTO E4 CAN RETAIL E4 CAN SERVICE E4 US Internet	008825000802190 008825000802190 008825000802190 008825000802190 0091734080219012 00882500080219012	01305000 01361000 01379000 2880000 02520000				
E4 CAN INTERNET E4 CAN INOTO E4 CAN RETAIL E4 CAN SERVICE E4 US Internet E4 US Internet E4 US Retail	008825000802190 008825000802190 008825000802190 008825000802190 00173408021901 00825000802190 0017340802999777	01305000 01301000 01379000 2880000 02526000 722229998				
Ericodly Name  Ericodly Name Ericodly Name Ericodly Name Ericol E	008825000802190 008825000802190 008825000802190 008825000802190 0091734080219012 00882500080219012	01305000 01301000 01379000 2880000 02526000 722229998				

- **Note:** For each new terminal association, a new PIN is automatically generated. The new PIN can be used to process transactions from an integrated application, a Web site, or the Converge Mobile App. PINs can be 64, 32, 6, 5 or 4 characters in length. It is recommended to always use a length of 64 characters for maximum security.
- 5. To associate an additional terminal to the user account, select another terminal from the **Terminal List**.

## To Copy Associations from Other Users

- 1. Find the user you want to edit by following the instructions under the <u>Finding a User</u> <u>Account</u> section.
- 2. Click the User ID in the User List table.

User	List				Do	wnload
• 6	items					
	User ID 🖨	First Name 🗢	Last Name 🗢	Location	Supervisor	Active
	Clerk1	Jane	Doe	Any City	Manager	Y
	StoreClerk	Store	Clerk	Atlanta	000004	Y
	StoreClerk2				000004	Y
	SupermartClerk2				000004	Y
	SupermartClerk3				000004	Y
	SupermartClerk5				000004	Y
	Select All Unselect All	Сору	User	Supervis	or Report	

The Edit User screen displays.

Edit User	
Update an Existing U	ser. Note that all fields with an asterisk (*) are required.
Update	
User Information	
User ID:	Clerk1
First Name:	Jane
Last Name:	Doe
Location:	Any City
Phone:	999-999-9999
Extension:	
Email:	Any_email@email.com
Password:	••••••• <del>×</del>
Supervisor:	Manager 💌
Active:	Yes 💌
Status:	Unlocked 💌
Update Rights	s Terminals Update and Reset Security Questions Cancel

#### 3. Click Terminals.

The Terminal Associations screen displays.

Terminal Associations						
inter a new terminal association						
Terminal Associations for: Cle	rk1					
User Terminal Name Terminal	ID Market PIN PIN Length PIN Format					
Terminal List · 9 items						
Friendly Name 🖨	Terminal ID 🖨					
ABC Company	8888889999900008888888					
E4 CAN INTERNET	0089250008021901387000					
E4 CAN MOTO	0089250008021901395000					
E4 CAN RETAIL	0089250008021901361000					
E4 CAN SERVICE	0089250008021901379000					
E4 US Internet	001734080219012880000					
E4 US MOTO	0089250008021902526000					
E4 US Retail	0017340009997772229998					
E4 US SERVICE	0017340009997772229997					
	Display: 25					
Edit User Copy Asso	ociations From Other User					

4. Click **Copy Associations From Other User** to copy the terminal associations from an existing user to the user account.

**Note:** If terminals are already associated to the user a message will appear that all existing terminal associations for the user will be removed and replaced with the terminal associations from the selected user.

The **Copy Terminal Associations** screen displays a list of existing users from which to select.

Copy Terminal Assoc	iations				
Select one User Profile from which to	erminal associ	iations will I	be copied		
User Information User ID: First Name: Last Name: Active: Active: Display: 25 Find Clear User List					
• 7 items					
🔲 User ID 🖨	First Name 🗢	Last Name 🗢	Location	Supervisor	Active
Clerk1	Jane	Doe	Any City	Manager	Y
Clerk2	Jane	Smith	Any City	Manager	Y
StoreClerk	Store	Clerk	Atlanta	000004	Y
StoreClerk2				000004	Y
SupermartClerk2				000004	Y
SupermartClerk3				000004	Y
SupermartClerk5				000004	Y
Copy Terr	minal Associa	tions	Cancel		

5. Select the existing user profile and then click **Copy Terminal Associations**.

Converge does the following:

- Copies the terminal associations from the selected existing user to the user profile.
- Displays the **Terminal Associations** screen for the user profile with all terminal associations copied from the existing user.
- Generates a new PIN for each terminal association copied to the user profile.
- Displays the terminal associations copied to the user profile.

#### Notes:

Converge can do the following:

- Copy to existing user profiles that are **Active** or **Not Active**.
- Copy from existing user profiles that are **Active** or **Not Active**.
- Copy to existing user profiles with a status of **Locked** or **Unlocked**.
- Copy from existing user profiles with a status of **Locked** or **Unlocked**.
- Copy from only one existing user profile.
- Use the same security features that currently exist, which includes users only being allowed add terminals to a user that the logged in user already has access to.

### **To Remove User Terminal Associations**

1. From the **Terminal Associations** screen, click the **Delete** button in the row in which the terminal you wish to remove appears.

Term	ninal Associ	ations						
Enter a r	new terminal associ	ition						
_								
Temin	al Associations for	: Clerk1						
User								
Cief(1	ABC Company	*********	Internet	E1L22U3E3UU42RJPUJK3E78WIFFIFA4LNH8NUQTUGN3WI5JAJMTNAU3EHCKEP	64 -	alphanumeric 💌	Charge PIN	Delete
Clerk1	E4 CAN INTERNET	0089250008021901387000	Internet	CORACEG1D0RH081F52182L5PX5U61JEKC91H9C7X880WVBAIIEJ002/DANLHFYVM	64 ×	alphanumeric 💌	Change PIN	Delet
Cief(1	E4 CAN MOTO	0089250008021901395000	MOTO	CTGEI2M0CE4XQRHBY3CK//BDNTXSAOM01WCCEDLM0/SD3EY119640EDBK59060A29	64 -	alphanumeric •	Change PIN	Delete
Clerk1	E4 CAN RETAIL	0089250008021901361000	General Retail	ORCYCL/SC3A67X0FLBO/60FSV0TFW77UNK128GLM0POWY1/BYMB4NFDNHQ25UKT320	64 💌	alphanumeric 💌	Change PIN	Delet
Cieft1	E4 CAN BERVICE	0089250008021901379000	Service	RHC3C40HVPN89F0H3XY2ZZM1W1L2WPXAA070216W5Y06Z187N80APBDJX68TXR6	64 -	alphanumeric *	Change PIN	Delet

2. On the dialog box that displays to confirm this action, click **OK**.



The system removes the terminal from the list and displays a message that the terminal was successfully deleted.

Note: Click Cancel to retain the terminal association.

# **Generating User Reports**

You can generate user reports in two ways:

- Include all users and the Supervisors to whom they report
- Include one or more Supervisors and the users that report to them

#### To Generate User Report for All Users and their Supervisors

This allows a user to generate a download file of all users and the Supervisor they report to.

1. Select User | Find/Edit.

USER	ACCOUNT SETTING	S
Find / Edi	t <sub>d</sub> hn	
Create Ne	ew	
Change P	Password	
Change P	PIN	
Update Se	ecurity Questions	

The Find/Edit User screen displays.

Find / Edit User				
Locate an existing user.				
User Information				
User ID:				
First Name:				
Last Name:				
Active: Active				
Display: 25 💌				
Find Clear				

2. Click Find.

The **User List** table displays all users.

Find / Edit User					
Locate an existing user.					
User Information User ID: clerk First Name:					
Last Name:					
Active: Active -					
Display: 25					
Find Clear					
The orea					
User List				Do	wnload
• 7 items					
🔲 User ID 🖣	First Name ♥	Last Name 🖨	Location	Supervisor	Active
Clerk1	Jane	Doe	Any City	Manager	Y
Clerk2	Jane	Smith	Any City	Manager	Y
StoreClerk	Store	Clerk	Atlanta	000004	Y
StoreClerk2				000004	Y
SupermartClerk2				000004	Y
SupermartClerk3				000004	Y
SupermartClerk5				000004	Y
Select All Unselect All	Сору	User	Supervis	or Report	

#### Notes:

- If you do not define any search criteria and click **Find**, the system displays all current users (Supervisors and subordinates).
- At least one user must be selected to download the report.
- 3. Click **Download**.

The **Download** screen displays.

Download	
Select the desired download format.	
User Information	
Sect internation	
Sort On:	User Id 💌
	User Id  Comma-Delimited
Sort On:	Comma-Delimited

- 4. Sort on any one of the following:
  - User Id
  - First Name
  - Last Name
  - Location
  - Supervisor
  - Status

Note: The default is User Id.

- 5. Select the download text file type from the following options:
  - Comma-Delimited
  - Tab-Delimited
  - XML

#### Notes:

#### Comma-Delimited

Generates a comma-delimited file that can be opened in Microsoft Excel as a worksheet.

#### Tab-Delimited

Generates a tab-delimited file that can be opened in Microsoft Excel as a worksheet.

- XML Generates an XML document that opens in a new Internet browser window.
- 6. Select the Include text qualifier (double quote "): check box, if desired.

#### Notes:

- The default is unchecked.
- Only available with download text file types of **Comma-Delimited** and **Tab-Delimited** options.
- 7. Click Generate Download to download the report.

The File Download message box appears with the following options:

- Open
- Save
- Cancel

File Dowr	load	×
<b>Do уо</b> ц	want to open or save this file?	
	Name: DetailReportCommaDelimited.csv Type: Microsoft Excel 97-2003 Worksheet From: 00.000.000 Open Save Cancel	
2	While files from the Internet can be useful, some files can potentially harm your computer. If you do not trust the source, do not open or save this file. What's the risk?	

When you choose to **Open** or **Save** Converge creates the download file and displays the file in a new window.

## To Generate User Report for Supervisors and their Subordinates

This allows a Supervisor to generate a user report of one or more Supervisors and the users that report to them.

1. Select User | Find/Edit.



The Find/Edit User screen displays.

Find / Edit User		
Locate an existing user.		
User Information		
User ID:		
First Name:		
Last Name:		
Active: Active		
Display: 25 💌		
Find Clear		

2. Click Find.

The **User List** table displays all users (one or more Supervisors) that directly report to that Supervisor, along with their subordinates.

Find / Edit User						
Locate an existing user.						
User Information User ID: clerk First Name: Last Name: Active: Active Display: 25						
Find Clear						
User List		-		Do	wnload	
🔳 User ID 🖨	First Name 🖨	Last Name 🖨	Location	Supervisor	Active	
Clerk1	Jane	Doe	Any City	Manager	Ŷ	
Clerk2	Jane	Smith	Any City	Manager	Y	
StoreClerk	Store	Clerk	Atlanta	000004	Y	
StoreClerk2				000004	Y	
SupermartClerk2				000004	Y	
SupermartClerk3				000004	Y	
SupermartClerk5				000004	Y	
Select All Unselect All	Сору	User	Supervis	or Report		

#### Notes:

- If you do not define any search criteria and click **Find**, the system displays all current users (Supervisors and subordinates).
- At least one user must be selected to generate the Supervisor Report.
- 3. Click Supervisor Report.

The **Download** screen displays.

Download	
Select the desired download format.	
User Information	
Sort On:	User Id 💌
Sort On: Specify the download text file type:	User Id 🔽 Comma-Delimited 💌
	Comma-Delimited

- 4. Sort on any one of the following:
  - User Id
  - First Name
  - Last Name
  - Location
  - Supervisor
  - Status

#### Note: The default is User Id.

- 5. Select download text file type:
  - Comma-Delimited
  - Tab-Delimited
  - XML

#### Notes:

#### Comma-Delimited

Generates a comma-delimited file that can be opened in Microsoft Excel as a worksheet.

#### • Tab-Delimited

Generates a tab-delimited file that can be opened in Microsoft Excel as a worksheet.

XML

Generates an XML document that opens in a new Internet browser window.

6. Select Include text qualifier (double quote – "): check box, if desired.

#### Notes:

- The default is unchecked.
- Only available with download text file types of Comma-Delimited and Tab-Delimited options.
- 7. Click **Download File** to download the report.

The File Download message box appears with the following options:

- Open
- Save
- Cancel



When you choose to **Open** or **Save** Converge creates the download file and displays the file in a new window.

# **Changing Your Password**

As a security measure, each user's password is set to expire 45 days after the last password change. Users who do not change their password within the last 45 days must enter new passwords on the next successful login. To change your password, you must have already logged in with your old password. If you cannot remember your current password, or if your account has been locked, call Customer Service for assistance.

1. Select User | Change Password.

USER	ACCOUNT SETTIN	GS
Find / Ed	lft	
Create N	lew	
Change	Password	
Change	PIN	
Update \$	Security Questions	

#### The Change Password screen displays.

10	change your password, you must enter your current password and provide a new one
	t is based on the criteria below. Make sure you confirm your new password then select
"Ch	ange password". Note that all fields with an asterisk (¥) are required.
-	ana Bassword
Cn	ange Password
С	hange Password
С	urrent password: 😽
II N	ew Password:
11	
	onfirm New Password: 🛛 🖌
	Change Password Clear
Pas	sword Instructions
Eac	h user's case-sensitive password must meet the following criteria
	The password must be a minimum of eight (8) characters in length.
	The password must contain at least one lower-case letter, one upper-case letter, one number and one of the followin
	special characters:
	`-=[];',./~!@#\$%^&*()_+{}:"<>? .
	The password must be changed at a minimum of every ninety (90) days.
	The previous thirteen (13) passwords cannot be reused.

3. Enter your new password in the **New Password** field.

- 4. Enter your new password again in the **Confirm New Password** field for verification.
- 5. Click **Change Password** to complete the password change.

The system displays a message that your password successfully updated.

# Change Password

Your password has successfully been changed; please use your new password when logging into the application.

Note: Click Clear if you want to abandon any changes.

# **Changing Your PIN**

Converge allows you to change the length and format of the terminal PINs associated with your account. The system automatically generates PINs, so you are unable change the actual PIN text. You are only allowed to change length and format of your the PIN.

1. Select User | Change PIN.

USER	ACCOUNT SETTINGS
Find / Ed	līt
Create N	ew
Change	Password
Change	PIN (h)
Update S	Security Questions

The Change PIN screen displays.

Chan	ge PIN					
Enter a r	new PIN.					
Change	e PIN					
User	Terminal Name	PIN	Market	PIN Length	PIN Format	
Clerk1	ABC Company	EYLZ2U3E3UUA2RJPUJK3E7BWIFFIFA4LINH8MUQ7UGN3WI5JAJMTNAU3EHCXEP	Internet	64 💌	alphanumeric 🗵	Change PIN
Clerk1	E4 CAN INTERNET	ODIRADE01D0RH381F821B2L5PX5U61JEXC8YH9C7XBB3WVBAWEJ00ZVDANLHFYVM	Internet	64 💌	alphanumeric 💌	Change PIN
Clerk1	E4 CAN MOTO	C7GEI2M0CE4XQRHBY3CKV8DN7XSA0M01WCCEDLM0ISD3EY11954OEDBK59050A29	MOTO	64 💌	alphanumeric 💌	Change PIN
Clerk1	E4 CAN RETAIL	Q9QYCL9C3A57X/FLB0/60FSV0TFW77UNK128GLM0P0//YWBYMB4NFDNHQ25UKT3Z0	General Retail	64 💌	alphanumeric 💌	Change PIN
Clerk1	E4 CAN SERVICE	RHC3C40HVPN99F0H3XY2ZZW1W1L2WPXAAQ7021I5WSY0SZ187N9OAPBDJX68TXR6	Service	64 *	alphanumeric 💌	Change PIN

- 2. If you want to change the **PIN Length**, select one of the following options from the drop-down list:
  - Sixty Four characters (recommended)
  - Thirty two characters
  - Six characters
  - Five characters
  - Four characters

#### Notes:

- PIN length defaults to 64 characters
- PINs are case sensitive
- 3. Click **Change PIN** to save the PIN length changes and generate the new PIN.
- 4. If you want to change the **PIN Format**, select one of the two options from the dropdown list and click **Change PIN** to save the PIN format changes and generate the new PIN:
  - Alphanumeric (recommended)
  - Numeric

Note: PIN format defaults to alphanumeric.

5. To just change your PIN, click **Change PIN**, and the system will auto generate the new PIN.

You can change both the PIN length and PIN format at the same time. For example:

The screen below shows an example of a PIN (**QBQYCL...**) with a length of 64 characters and the format is alphanumeric.

Chan	ge PIN					
Enter a r	new PIN.					
Change	DIN		_	_	_	_
_		-	and the second			_
_		EN EVIZZUZESUJAZRJPLIKSETEWIFFFAALINHERUOTUGNZWISJABITNAUZEHCKEP	Market		PIN Format	
Clerk1	ABC Company	ETL2203E300A2K0P0JK3E78YVPPIPAALINH880Q70GN3YN5JAJMTNA03EHCXEP	Internet	64 💌	alphanumeric 💌	Change PIN
Clerk1	E4 CAN INTERNET	ODIRADEG1D0RH381FSZ1B2L5PX5U61JEKC8YH9C7XBB3WVBAWEJC0ZVDANLHFYVM	Internet	64 💌	alphanumeric 💌	Change PIN
Clerk1	E4 CAN MOTO	C7GEI2M0CE4XQRHBY3CKV8DN7XSA0M01WCCEDLM0ISD3EY11954OEDBK59050A29	MOTO	64 💌	alphanumeric 💌	Change PIN
Clerk1	E4 CAN RETAIL	QBQYCL9C3A57X/FLB0/60FSV0TFW77UNK128GLM0POWYWBYMB4NFDNHQ25UKT320	General Retail	64 💌	alphanumeric 💌	Change PIN
Clerk1	E4 CAN SERVICE	RHC3C40HVPN99F0H3XY2ZZM1M1L2WPXAAQ7Q21I5WSY0SZ187N9OAPBDJX68TXR6	Service	64 .	alphanumeric 💌	Change PIN

a) To change the PIN length from 64 to 4, select **four characters** from the **PIN Length** drop-down list .

- b) To change the PIN format from alphanumeric to **numeric**, select numeric from the **PIN Format** drop-down list .
- c) Click **Change PIN**. The system saves the PIN length and format changes and generates a new numeric 4-character PIN.

Chan	ge PIN					
Enter a n	new PIN.					
Change	• PIN		_	_	_	_
User	Terminal Name	PIN	Market	PIN Length	PIN Format	
Clerk1	ABC Company	EYLZ2UI3E3UUA2RJPUJK3E7BWIFFIFAALINH8MUQ7UQN3W5JAJMTNAU3EHCXEP	Internet	64 💌	alphanumeric 💌	Change PIN
Clerk1	E4 CAN INTERNET	ODIRADEG1D0RH381F82182L5PX5U61JEKC8YH9C7XBB3WVBAWEJO0ZVDANLHFYVM	Internet	64 💌	alphanumeric 💌	Change PIN
Clerk1	E4 CAN MOTO	C7GEI2M0CE4XQRHBY3CKVBDN7XSA0M01WCCEDLM0ISD3EY119540EDBK59060A29	MOTO	64 💌	alphanumeric 💌	Change PIN
Clerk1	E4 CAN RETAIL	5035	General Retail	64 💌	alphanumeric 💌	Change PIN
Clarks	E4 CAN SERVICE	RHC3C40HvPN99F0HXXY2ZZM1M1L2WPXAAQ7Q21I5W5YQ5Z187N9QAPBDJX58TXR6	Senice	64 .	alphanumeric 💌	Change PIN

# **Updating Your Security Questions**

When you first accessed Converge and used the password assigned to you by Elavon's customer service, you were prompted to enter three security questions and answers. Follow the procedure below to change either the questions or answers.

1. Select User | Update Security Questions.



#### The Update Security Questions screen displays.

Update Security Questions				
Please reenter your password, select your security questions and pro	ovide an answer for each one.			
Security Questions				
Confirm Password				
Password: X				
Security Questions & Answers				
Question1 What is your mother's first name?	Answer			
Question2 What was your first pet's name?	Answer			
Question3 In what city were you born?	Answer			
Update Cancel				

- 2. Enter your **Password**.
- 3. Select the security question you would like to change from the **Question** drop-down list.

The new security question displays.

Update Security Questions
Please reenter your password, select your security questions and provide an answer for each one.
Security Questions
Confirm Password
Password: *
Security Questions & Answers
Question1 (What is your maternal grandmother's first name?)  Answer
Question2 What was your first pet's name? Answer
Question3 In what city were you born?
Update Cancel

- 4. Enter your **Answer**.
- 5. Click **Update**.

The system displays a message that your security question and answer successfully updated.

Update Security Questions
Please reenter your password, select your security questions and provide an answer for each one.
Successfully updated Security question and answers.
Security Questions
Confirm Password
Password: *
Security Questions & Answers
Question1 What is your maternal grandmother's first name?
Question2 What was your first pet's name?  Answer
Question3 In what city were you born?
Update Cancel

# **Chapter 3: Managing Account Settings**

The **Account Settings** menu has a single option called **IP Address Options**. This feature restricts access to a Converge account so that only certain IP addresses can access an account with its designated terminals. Therefore, if you attempt to access an account from an IP address that is not in the list, you will be denied access.

#### Notes:

- The **IP Limitation** feature applies to the user interface (Login.do) only, it does not apply to the API (Process.do and Processxml.do) and will not limit any gateway transactions.
- To limit IP transactions you must setup the **Merchant IP Address Filter** in the fraud prevention screen. For more information, refer to the <u>Setting Up Fraud Prevention Rules</u> section.

In this chapter you will use the Login IP Address feature to do any of the following operations:

- Add a login IP Address
- Delete a login IP Address

# Adding a Login IP Address

1. Select Account Settings | IP Address Options.



The **IP Address Options** screen displays all authorized login IP addresses that are already associated with this account.

IP Address Options		
This form is used configure IP address options		
Login IP Address Options		
Use Login IP Addresses		
Authorized Login IP Addresses (max 50) 00.000.000 Delete		
00.000.000.001 Delete		
00.000.000.002 Delete		
000.000.000.00 Delete		
00.000.000 Delete		
Add Login IP Address		
Update Cancel		

2. Select the **Use Login IP Addresses** check box.

**Note:** You must select **Use Login IP Addresses** to use an IP address to restrict access to an account. This option is not activated if you only add IP addresses.

- 3. In the text box provided, enter the login IP address you want to allow to access this account.
- 4. Click Add Login IP Address.

The system displays a message that the IP address successfully added.

1	IP Address Options
•	This form is used configure IP address options
c	P Successfully Added
Ì	Login IP Address Options
	Use Login IP Addresses
	Authorized Login IP Addresses (max 50) 00.000.000.003 Delete
	00.000.000.000 Delete
	00.000.000.001 Delete
	00.000.000.002 Delete
	000.000.000.00 Delete
	00.000.000 Delete
	Add Login IP Address
	Update Cancel

5. To add other IP addresses, repeat steps 3 and 4.

#### Notes:

- You can add a maximum of 50 IP addresses or IP range addresses for your account.
- You must provide a valid IP address to your account with all 4 octets of the IP address (for example, 123.45.67.89) or a range of IP addresses, with only the first 2 or 3 octets (for example, 123.45 or 123.45.67).
- IP addresses must be public.
- 6. Click Update.

The system displays a message that the IP addresses were successfully updated.

	IP Address Options
	This form is used configure IP address options
C	IP Successfully Updated Login IP Address Options
	Use Login IP Addresses
	Authorized Login IP Addresses (max 50) 00.000.000.003 Delete
	00.000.000.000 Delete
	00.000.000.001 · Delete
	00.000.000.002 Delete
	000.000.000.00 Delete
	00.000.000 Delete
	Add Login IP Address
	Update Cancel

Note: Click Cancel to abandon updates or return to the Converge Main page.

# **Deleting a Login IP Address**

1. Select Account Settings | IP Address Options.

USER	ACCOUNT SETTINGS
	IP Address Options

The **IP Address Options** screen displays all authorized login IP addresses that are already associated with this account.

2. Click **Delete** next to the IP address you want to delete.

The system displays a message that the IP address was successfully deleted.

1	IP Address Options		
1	This form is used configure IP address options		
6			
Ì	P Successfully Deleted		
	Use Login IP Addresses		
	Authorized Login IP Addresses (max 50) 00.000.000.000 Delete		
	00.000.000.001 Delete		
	00.000.000.002 Delete		
	000.000.000.00 Delete		
	00.000.000 Delete		
	Add Login IP Address		
	Update Cancel		

- 3. To delete other IP addresses, repeat step 2.
- 4. Click Update.

The system displays a message that the IP addresses successfully updated.

1	IP Address Options		
	This form is used configure IP address options		
Q	Login IP Address Options		
	Use Login IP Addresses		
	Authorized Login IP Addresses (max 50) 00.000.000.003 Delete		
	00.000.000.000 Delete		
	00.000.000.001 Delete		
	00.000.000.002 Delete		
	000.000.000.00 Delete		
	00.000.000 Delete		
	Add Login IP Address		
	Update Cancel		

# **Chapter 4: Managing Terminals**

When you use Converge, you might have a single terminal or multiple terminals configured. You can control which users have access to these terminals when you configure that user's account.

If you only have one terminal associated with your user ID, you will automatically have that terminal selected when you access Converge. However, if you have multiple terminals you will need to select a terminal to work in. You can select only one terminal to work in at any given time.

This chapter describes how to:

- Select terminals
- Set up merchants
- Set up payment form
- Manage advanced settings

## **Selecting a Terminal**

Converge allows you to find and select terminals by the terminal friendly name.

1. On the Converge logon page, click **Select Terminal**.



The **Select Terminal** screen displays a list of the terminals on which you have access in alphabetical order by **Friendly Name**.
#### Notes:

For users that have access to more than 25 terminals Converge does the following:

- Default the number of terminals to be displayed per page to 25.
- Allow users to select the default number of terminals to be displayed per page: 25, 50, 75, 100, 250, 500, 750, and 1000.
- Allow users to page through the terminals on which they have access as follows:
  - Select a specific page
  - Select next page
  - Select previous page
  - Advance to the first page
  - Advance to the last page
- 2. If you have access to 25 or less terminals, from the **Terminal List** table, click the terminal you wish to access from the list.

Select Terminal			
elect the desired terminal.			
Terminal List + 5 items			
Friendly Name 🗢	Market 🗢	Region 🗢	Terminal ID 🗢
ABC Company	Internet	United States	888888999990000888888
E4 CAN INTERNET	Internet	Canada	0089250008021901387000
	MOTO	Canada	0089250008021901395000
E4 CAN MOTO			
E4 CAN MOTO E4 CAN RETAIL	General Retail	United States	0089250008021901361000

3. If you have access to more than 25 terminals, from the **Find Terminal** text box, enter any number of characters (including letters, numbers, and special characters) in the terminal friendly name for the terminal you wish to access.

Converge displays a list of terminals that you have access to with those characters located anywhere in the **Friendly Name**.

Select Terminal			
elect the desired terminal.			
Find Terminal MOTO canada moto check E4 CAN MOTO E4 US MOTO E4 US MOTO			
PX CAN MOTO E3 PX US MOTO E4	Market 🖨	Region 🖨	Terminal ID 🖨
PX USA MOTO H	Internet	United States	8888889999900000888888
ABC Company Name	General Retail	United States	2313245322454564134
ABC Terminal	Internet	United States	88888888888888888888888888888
ACH Test Terminal No Change	Service	United States	0017340008021930584000
canada internet	Internet	Canada	23424354546
aoto check	мото	ada	1242
GIFT C.		υ.	22295-
PX CAN Interne	et	Canada	J01734000999777222
PX CAN MOTO E3	мото	Canada	0017340009997772228333
	General Retail	Canada	0010548510000000724981
PX CAN Retail E4			

4. Click the Friendly Name to select the terminal you wish to access from the list.

The **Main** Converge screen displays and you will now see the **Terminal** menu option at the top of the screen, along with the type of transactions available to you on this terminal.

COnverge	MerchantConnect   Support Section   Help   Logout
User: Jane Doe Account: 000004 Terminal: E4 CAN MOTO Select Terminal Credit Card Gridt Card Gridt Card Card Manager Current Batches Settled Batches Export Log Privacy Policy Terms of Use Copyright © 2014 Elavon, Inc. All rights reserved.	USER ACCOUNT SETTINGS TERMINAL Main Welcome to Converge. The Converge Virtual Terminal system is a secure internet-based transaction processing system that enables your business to process transactions in real-time.

Once you have the terminal selected, you can proceed with other actions available to you from the **Terminal** menu option as described in the following sections.

# **Setting Up Merchant Information**

The Merchant Setup menu consists of the following options:

• Main

Allows you to update merchant information

• Terminal

Allows you to update terminal information

• Payment Fields

Allows you to update payment fields and payment sections

• Printer

Allows you to configure your printer



## **To Update Merchant Information (Main Option)**

This function allows you to view and edit merchant information.

Your merchant information includes:

- Merchant Name
- Address, City, State, Province and Postal Code
- Contact Information
- Terminal E-mail
- SMS E-mail
- Web site

To update this information:

1. Select Terminal | Merchant | Main.

#### The **Update** screen displays.

Update		
This form is used to updat	e the selected terminal. Note that all fields with an asterisk (*) are required.	
-		
Update Merchant Inform	ation	
Merchant Options		
Merchant Name:	ABC Company	
Address 1:	123 Main St	
Address 2:		
City:	Any City	
State/Province:	Any State	
Postal Code:	99999	
Contact Name:	John Doe	
Contact Phone 1:	999-999-9999	
Contact Phone 2:		
Contact E-mail:	any.email@email.com	
Terminal E-mail:	any.email@email.com	
SMS E-mail:		
Merchant's URL(Website):		
	Update Cancel	

2. Update the fields as desired.

Note: The Contact E-mail and Terminal E-mail addresses cannot be left blank. All other fields are optional.

3. Click **Update** when all fields are completed the way you want them.

The **Update** screen indicates that your update succeeded.

	Update			
	This form is used to update the selected terminal. Note that all fields with an asterisk (*) are required.			
<	Update succeeded.			
	Update Merchant Inform	ation		
	Merchant Options			
	Merchant Name:	ABC Company		
	Address 1:	123 Main St		
	Address 2:			
	City:	Any City		
	State/Province:	Any State		
	Postal Code:	99999		
	Contact Name:	John Doe		
	Contact Phone 1:	999-999-9999		
	Contact Phone 2:			
	Contact E-mail:	any.email@email.com 🗶		
	Terminal E-mail:	any.email@email.com 🗶		
	SMS E-mail:			
	Merchant's URL(Website):			
		Update Cancel		

# **To Update Terminal Information**

Settings	Description
Merchant ID	The merchant identification number (MID) assigned by Elavon. A single MID may have multiple terminal numbers or locations that accept funds generated by transactions.
Terminal Number	The number assigned by Elavon to a single merchant location, also called a TID. One or several terminal numbers might be under a single MID.
Friendly Name	An easy-to-recognize name for the terminal, assigned by the merchant (for example: My Retail Store).
Region	The geographic region where the terminal is located (for example: United States).
Time Zone	The time zone where the terminal or store is located (for example: Eastern Time).
Currency	The merchant base currency used in transactions (for example: United States dollar).
Processing Type	The terminal capture and processing type. Possible values are Terminal-based or Host-Based.
Financial Institution Number	The identification number used for only those terminals set up with Account Updater.
Market Segment	Business type or category (for example: Retail, Service, Internet, or Mail Order).

Your terminal information includes the following settings:

Settings	Description	
Status	The terminal processing status.	
	There are three possible statuses:	
	Active     Allows you to process and settle transactions.	
	Not Live     Allows you to process test transactions via API only. No settlement or     UI processing is allowed.	
	• <b>Suspended</b> Allows you to log on to the terminal and view activity. No processing is allowed.	
	Notes:	
	When the status of a terminal is:	
	Not Live	
	<ul> <li>Recurring, auto settlement and manual settlement are not possible.</li> </ul>	
	• Transactions are processed in test mode using the API and transactions via the UI are not allowed.	
	Suspended	
	<ul> <li>Recurring, auto settlement and manual settlement are not possible.</li> </ul>	
	• The terminal cannot process transactions via API or UI.	
	Active	
	Merchants can process transactions as usual.	
	Transactions and settlement are allowed.	
	The terminal can only process real transactions when set to <b>Active</b> .	
Payment Type	The type of payments that a terminal is capable of processing (for example: Credit, Debit, Food Stamp, Gift, Loyalty, Electronic Check, Cash Benefit, or Cash Tender).	
Credit Payment Options	Additional options and capabilities that can be performed by a terminal. Your options are: Address Verification, CVV2, CVC2, CID, Purchasing Card 2, Invoice Number, Dynamic Currency or Multi-Currency, Recurring, Verify Last 4-digits, Travel Data, or Account Updater.	
Recurring Payment Options	The default billing cycle for a terminal (for example: <b>Monthly</b> , <b>Weekly</b> , or <b>Annually</b> ).	
Debit Payment Options	Debit related options (for example: <b>Cashback</b> or <b>Surcharge</b> ).	
Electronic Check	Electronic Check related options. Your options are:	
Payment Options	Check Type	
	Service Type	
	MPS Merchant ID	
	Image Upload Options	
	Consumer Data (DLL and Phone)	

Settings	Description
Other Payment Options	For example: MBNA Private Label.
Transaction Entry Options	The payment entry capabilities allowed for a terminal. This function shows if the terminal is able to process transactions though the API (for example: Enable HTTPS Transaction).
Tokenization	This option will enable the card manager in the user interface and the tokenization in the API. This functionality allows a merchant to store credit card and billing information to process transactions manually at a later time (card on file).

From this list, you can update the **Friendly Name** option only.

1. Select Terminal | Merchant | Terminal.

The **Update Terminal** screen displays.



2. Enter the name you want your terminal to be known as in the **Friendly Name** field.

3. Click **Update**.

The **Update Terminal** screen changes to indicate that you have updated the terminal **Friendly Name** successfully.

Update Terminal This form is used to update the selected Terminal. Note that all fields with an asterisk (*) are required.			
Update succeeded.			
Terminal Information: Account	ID 000004		
Terminal			
Merchant ID:	454345486465		
Terminal Number:	8888889999900000888888		
Friendly Name:	New Company 😽		
DBA Name:	Disabled		
Region:	United States		
Time Zone:	Eastern Time		
Currency:	United States Dollar		
Processing Type:	Terminal-Based		
estitution	056		
11			
Level 3.	 ار		
Other Payment Options:	Fachia UTTOO Transaction		
Transaction Entry Options:	Enable HTTPS Transaction Enable HTTPS Batch Import		
Tokenization:			
	Update Cancel		
L			

#### Notes:

- The terminal must be active to process live transactions.
- If your need to change any settings in your terminal, call your system administrator or Elavon at 1-800-377-3962, option 2, option 2 (in Canada you are asked to choose either English or French for your language).

## **To Update Payment Fields and Payment Sections**

Converge allows you to configure how payment fields display both in Virtual Terminal and on the payment form to the customer. Sections are placeholders for information that can be configured to display on the payment forms. Each section is composed of the individual fields on the payment forms.

Options available to modify payment fields and sections include:

- Add new payment fields
- Delete payment fields
- Edit payment fields
- Rearrange payment fields
- Add new payment sections
- Edit payment sections
- Delete payment sections

#### To Add New Payment Fields

This function allows you to define how payment fields appear on the screen, as well as on the Converge payment form.

1. Select Terminal | Merchant | Payment Fields.

## The **Payment Fields** screen displays.

Payment Fields				
This form	n is used to update the field us	e and order.		
Paymen	t Field Setup			
7 🛆	7 Order Section	Required	OrderSection	System Field
▲▼	Account Data/MICR Data	Yes	ssl_account_data	System Field
≜⊽	Bank Account Number	Yes	ssl_bank_account_number	System Field
1	Bank Routing Number	Yes	est_aba_number	System Field
	koiration	Yes	date	m Field
≜ ⊽			SSI_	<b>-</b> .
▲▼	Promo code	140	ssl_promu_cude	System nerd
≜ ⊽	Enrollment	No	ssl_enroliment	System Field
Add	New Field			
7 △	7 Billing Address	Required	BillingAddress	System Field
▲▼	Company	No	ssl_company	System Field
	First Name	No	msl_first_name	System Field
	est name	No	name	m.Field
7 △		quired	Cust	Sys.
▲▼	Customer Data 1	No	cust_1	
Add	New Field			
Add	New Section			

2. Click Add New Field.

The Add New Payment Field screen displays.

his form is used to add a new payment field. Note that all fields with an asterisk *) are required.		
New Payment Field configuration		
Field Options		
Name:	*	
Display Name:	*	
Section:	Order Section 💌 🗙	
Field Type:	Text 💌 🗙	
Minimum Number of Characters:		
Maximum Number of Characters:	<b>*</b>	
Required:		
Show in Virtual Terminal:		
Can be changed on Payment Form:		
Show on Payment Form:		
Show in Receipt:		
Show in Email to Customer:		
Show in Email to Merchant:		
Forward on Approval:		
Forward on Decline:	Π	

3. Enter the **Name** of the new field, without spaces.

Note: This field cannot be edited once the field is added.

4. Enter the name for the field that will show on the payment form in the **Display Name** field.

- 5. In the **Section** drop-down list, select the section in which you want the new field to display on the payment form from the following:
  - Billing Address
  - Order Section
  - Custom Fields
  - Shipping Address
- 6. In the Field Type drop-down list, select one of the following:
  - Text
  - Drop Down
  - Checkbox
- 7. Enter the Maximum Number of Characters for this field.

For text fields that are custom fields or system fields that are optional, you can define the minimum length required for a value entered in the field.

8. Select required check boxes to specify where the new fields will display.

Fields	Description
Required	Designates the field as required on the payment form and in the Virtual Terminal. Fields the system sets as required cannot be changed.
Show in Virtual Terminal	Specifies whether the field is visible in the Virtual Terminal.
Can be Changed on Payment Form	Specifies whether the field can be edited on the payment form. This option is not valid unless you select the <b>Show on Payment Form</b> check box.
	Note: Applicable to the API response only.
Show on Payment Form	Specifies whether the field is visible in the Converge payment form.
Show in Receipt	Places this field on the transaction receipt.
Show in Email to Customer	Includes this field in the customer email to the addresses entered into the payment form. You must enter the <b>Contact Email</b> on the <b>Update Merchant</b> <b>Information</b> screen for the email to be sent to the customer.
Show in Email to Merchant	Includes this field in the merchant notification email to the addresses entered into the <b>Terminal E-mail</b> on the <b>Update Merchant Information</b> screen.

Fields	Description
Forward on Approval	Forwards the information in this field to the URL specified for the merchant if the transaction is approved.
	Note: Applicable to the API response only.
Forward on Decline	Forwards the information in this field to the URL specified for the merchant if the transaction is declined.
	<b>Note:</b> Applicable to the API response only.

#### Notes:

If you select or clear any of the following settings on this screen, when you click **Add New Field**, the system automatically updates setting in the section in which the field is located:

- Show in Virtual Terminal
- Show on Payment Form
- Show in Receipt
- Show email to Customer
- Show email to Merchant
- 9. Click **Add New Field**.

The **Payment Fields** screen displays and indicates that your update was successful. The new field displays at the bottom of the section.

Payme	ent Fields			
This form is used to update the field use and order.				
Custom Fiel Payment Fi	d 2 - Payment field Added su eld Setup	ccessfully.		
$\Delta \nabla$	Order Section	Required	OrderSection	System Field
A V	Account Data/MICR Data Bank Accourt	Yes Yes	ssl_account_data	System Field



10. To change the order in which the fields display in the section, click the up or down arrows (refer to the <u>To Rearrange Payment Fields</u> section).

## **To Delete Payment Fields**

Only user-defined fields can be deleted. You are not allowed to delete system-defined fields.

1. On the **Payment Fields** screen, click on the field you want to delete.

Payment Fields			
This form is used to update the field	d use ar	nd order.	
Payment Field Setup			
$\land \nabla$			System Field
▲ ♥ Account Data/MICR Data	Yes	ssl_account_data	System Field
Expiration Date(1111Y)	Yes	exp_date	System Field
Amount	Yes	unt	Eield
. <del>.</del> .			
Add Nev.			11
$\land \nabla$			System Field
▲ V Custom Field 1	No	cust_1	
▲ V CustomData1	No	CustomData1	
▲ Vew Customer Field	No	Custom_Field	
Add New Field			
Add New Section			

The Update Payment Field screen displays the selected field.

2. Click Delete.

The system displays a message to confirm if the field should be deleted.

	Update Payment Fie	ld
	This form is used to update a paym	ent field. Note that all fields with an asterisk $(\ref{abs})$ are required.
1	Payment Field configuration	
	Field Options	
	Name:	Custom_Field
	Display Name:	New Customer Field 🔆
	Section:	Custom Fields 💌 \star
	Field Type:	Text 💌 \star
	Minimum Number of Characters:	
	Maximum Number of Characters:	64 <del>X</del>
	Required:	
	Show in Virtual Terminal:	Message from webpage
	Can be changed on Payment Form:	■
	Show on Payment Form:	Are you sure you want to delete this field?
	Show in Receipt:	
	Show in Email to Customer:	OK Cancel
	Show in Email to Merchant:	
	Forward on Approval:	
	Forward on Decline:	
	Upda	te Delete Cancel

3. Click **OK**.

The system removes the payment field from the list and indicates that field deleted successfully.



#### **To Edit Payment Fields**

1. On the **Payment Fields** screen, click on the field you want to update.

The Update Payment Field screen displays the selected field.

Update Payment Field			
This form is used to update a payn (*) are required.	nent field. Note that all fields with an asterisk		
Payment Field configuration			
Field Options			
Name:	ssl_email		
Display Name:	Email Address 😽		
Section:	Billing Address 🔽 🔀		
Field Type:	Text 💌 \star		
Minimum Number of Characters:			
Maximum Number of Characters:	100 🗶		
Required:			
Show in Virtual Terminal:			
Can be changed on Payment Form:	N		
Show on Payment Form:	N		
Show in Receipt:			
Show in Email to Customer:			
Show in Email to Merchant:			
Forward on Approval:			
Forward on Decline:			
	Update Cancel		

**Note:** The settings on this screen define how the field is presented on both the Virtual Terminal screens and the Converge **Payment Form**. It also identifies whether the field should be used on the email responses for approved and declined notifications.

2. Make your changes and click **Update**.

The Payment Fields screen displays and indicates that your update was successful.



#### **To Rearrange Payment Fields**

You can use the arrows to the left of the fields to rearrange the display of the section or the fields on both the Converge user interface and the payment form.

1. Click the up or down arrow on the section address bar to move that section on both the Converge user interface and the payment form.

Paym	ent Fields			
This form	is used to update the fiel	d use and or	der.	
Paymen	nt Field Setup			
7				
				System Field
1 ~ *			SSI_,	S.,
A⊼	Edress	••	ssl_eman	System
Add	New Field			
$\triangle \nabla$				System Field
ΔV	Ship to Company	No	ssl_ship_to_company	System Field
	Ship to First Name	No	ssl_ship_to_first_name	System Field
	Ship to Last name	No	ssl_ship_to_last_name	System Field
∆ ⊽	Ship to Address1	No	ssl_ship_to_address1	System Field
∆ ⊽	Ship to Address2	No	ssl_ship_to_address2	System Field
∆ ⊽	Ship to City	No	ssl_ship_to_city	System Field
∆ ⊽	Ship to State/Province	No	ssl_ship_to_state	System Field
∆⊽	Ship to Country	No	ssl_ship_to_country	System Field
∆⊽	Ship to Phone	No	ssl_ship_to_phone	System Field
Add	New Field			
				System Field
ΔV	Custom Field 1	No	cust_1	
∆ ⊽	CustomData1	No	CustomData1	
Add	New Field			
				I
Add	New Section			I

The following example shows the **Custom Fields** section moved before the **Shipping Address** in the user interface.

Credit Card Sale	
Enter the Information for this tra	ansaction. Note that all fields with an asterisk $(\ref{abs})$ are required.
Sale	
tion	
Phone:	
Custom Fields	
Custom Field 1:	
CustomData1:	
Shipping Address	
Same as billing	T Yes
Ship to Company:	
Ship to First Name:	
Ship to Last name:	
Ship to Address1:	
Ship to Address2:	
Ship to City:	
Ship to State/Province:	
Ship to Country:	Please select a Country
Ship to Phone:	
	Process Cancel

2. Click the up or down arrow on the field row to move that field on both the Converge user interface and the payment form.



The following example shows the **Email Address** field moved before the **Address1** field in the user interface.

Credit Card Sale				
Enter the Information for this transaction. Note that all fields with an asterisk (*) are required.				
Sale				
Order Section				
Account Data:	41********9990			
Expiration Date(MMYY):	1215			
Amount	*			
Customer Code:				
Sales Tax:				
Billing Address				
Company:				
First Name:	Jane			
Last name:	Doe			
Email Address:				
Address1:				
Address2:				
City:				
State/Province:				
Postal Code:				
Country:	Please select a Country			
Phone:				
Fields				

#### **To Add New Payment Sections**

1. On the bottom of the Payment Fields screen, click Add New Section.



The Add New Payment Section screen displays.

Add New Paymer	t Section			
This form is used to add a new payment section. Note that all fields with an				
asterisk (¥) are required.				
New Payment Section confi	guration			
Section Options				
Name:		*		
Display Name:	<b></b>	*		
Show in Virtual Terminal:				
Show on Payment Form:				
Show in Receipt:				
Show in Email to Customer:				
Show in Email to Merchant:				
	Add New Section	Cancel		
	rida Hon Ocolion	Gunder		

- 2. Enter the name of the new section, without spaces, in the **Name** field.
- 3. Enter the **Display Name** for the new section.
- 4. Select required check boxes to specify where the new section will display.
- 5. Click Add New Section to save the new section parameters.

The system displays a message that confirms that the new section added successfully, and the new section appears at the bottom of the screen.





6. To change the order of the sections, select the up or down arrows in the title bar of the section.

#### **To Edit Payment Sections**

1. On the **Payment Fields** screen, click on the section name you want to edit.

The Update Payment Section screen displays the current information for the section.

2. Make your changes and click **Update Section**.

The **Payment Fields** screen displays and indicates that your update was successful. The updated section is highlighted.

Payment Fields					
This form is used to update the field use and order.					
New Custon	New Customer Field - Payment field Updated successfully.				
Payment Field Setup					
Payment Fi	eld Setup				
Payment Fi	eld Setup Order Section	Required	OrderSection	System Field	

Add New .			
△ ∇ Custom Fields	Required	CustomFields	System Field
▲ ▼ New Customer Field	Yes	Custom_Field	
Add New Field			
$\Delta = \nabla$ Second Custom Section	Required	New_Custom_Section	System Field
Add New Field			
Add New Section			

### **To Delete Payment Sections**

1. On the Payment Fields screen, click on the section you want to delete.

Paym	ent Fields			
This form	is used to update the field u	se and orde	er.	
Paymen	t Field Setup			
				System Field
▲▼	Account Data/MICR Data	Yes	ssl_account_data	System Field
≜ ⊽	Expiration Date(MMYY)	Yes	ssl_exp_date	System Field
AV	Amount	Yes	ssl_amount	System Field
	Card Presen	No	ard_present	tem Field
à⊽ à⊽ Add I	۲۰۲۲. Ship to Phone New Field	NO	ssl_=	Sy⊾ System ⊩ieid
$\triangle \nabla$				System Field
≜ ⊽	Custom Field 1	No	cust_1	
≜ ⊽	CustomData1	No	CustomData1	
Add I	New Field			
				System Field
Add	New Field			
Add I	New Section			

#### Notes:

- All fields must be removed before a section can be deleted.
- Only user defined sections can be deleted.

The **Update Payment Section** screen displays the selected section information.

Update Payment Section		
This form is used to update a payment section. Note that all fields with an asterisk (*) are required.		
uscensic (X) are required.		
Existing Payment Section con	figuration	
Section Options		
Name:	New_Custom_Section	
Display Name:	Second Custom Section 🔆	
Show in Virtual Terminal:		
Show on Payment Form:		
Show in Receipt:		
Show in Email to Customer:		
Show in Email to Merchant:		
Update	e Section Delete Cancel	

2. Click **Delete**.

The following message displays to confirm if the field should be deleted.



3. Click OK.

The system removes the payment section from your form and indicates that deletion was successful.



## **Configuring Your Printer**

The **Printer Configuration** function allows you to configure the receipt printing options for Converge. Printer options define the output generated upon a successful authorization attempt.

**Note:** It is very important to note that to print receipts, you must set up your Internet browser to accept pop-ups from Converge before you begin transaction processing (refer to the **Systems Requirements** section in the *Converge Getting Started Guide*).

To set up your printer, you have to access the **Printer Configuration** screen.

1. Select Terminal | Merchant | Printer.

The **Printer Configuration** screen displays.

Printer Configuration		
This form is used to config	gure all of the printer options.	
Printer Configuration		
Printer Options		
Printer Type:	Parallel Printer	
Paper Type:	Single Ply 💌	
Receipt Header Options	Justification	Center -
Header Line 1		
2		
	·	-
Custom La.	Custom Fie.	<u> </u>
Custom Label 10	Custom Field	
	Update Cancel	

The **Printer Configuration** screen is divided into the following sections:

- Printer Options
- Receipt Header Options
- Receipt Trailer Options
- Receipt Custom Fields

### **To Set Up Receipt Header Options**

- 2. In the **Printer Type** drop-down list, select one of the following:
  - No Printer
  - Parallel Printer
  - Serial Printer
  - Star Printer

Options	Description	
No Printer	Select if you do not wish to print a transaction receipt.	
	This option displays the authorization information on the Virtual Terminal <b>Response</b> screen.	
Parallel Printer	Select if you wish to print a receipt to a parallel printer.	
	This option launches a separate browser screen with the receipt information and sends the output to the default printer for the Internet browser. You must then select the <b>Print</b> button in the pop-up window or use the browser's print feature.	
Serial Printer	Select if you wish to print to a serial printer connected to a configured serial (COM) port using the Epson T20 printer.	
	In order for the <b>Serial</b> printer function to work, you must successfully install the Epson T20 drivers from the <b>Support</b> page using <b>Device Assistant</b> .	
	Refer to the <i>Converge Peripheral Device Installation and Setup Guide</i> for more information.	
Star Printer	Select if you wish to print using the Star Micronics TSP6500II printer device.	
	For the <b>Star Printer</b> function to work, you must successfully install the Star printer driver from the	
	Support page using ConvergeConnect.	
	Refer to the <i>Converge Peripheral Device Installation and Setup Guide</i> for more information.	

- 3. In the **Paper Type** drop-down list, select one of the following:
  - Single Ply
  - Multi Ply

#### Notes:

- When you select **Serial Printer** as the printer type:
  - Select **Single Ply** for 1 ply thermal style printers. This option prints the customer and merchant receipts separately.
  - Select **Multi Ply** for 2 ply impact style printers. This option prints the customer and merchant receipts at once with one copy per paper ply.
- When you select **Parallel Printer** as the printer type:
  - **Single Ply** prints the customer and merchant receipts side by side on a single sheet of paper (8 1/2"x11").
  - **Multi Ply** prints the customer and merchant receipts on 2 separate pages (1 per page, 8 1/2"x11").
- When you select **Star Printer** as the printer type:
  - Select **Single Ply** for 1 ply thermal style printers. This option prints the customer and merchant receipts separately.
  - Select **Multi Ply** for 2 ply impact style printers. This option prints the customer and merchant receipts at once with one copy per paper ply.

#### **To Set Up Receipt Header Options**

**Receipt Header Options** configures the structure for the receipt header. To enable or disable the printing of each header line, you can add or remove data from the **Header Line** field.

- 4. In the **Receipt Header Options** section, in the header text **Justification** drop down select from the following to determine the placement of the text on the receipt:
  - Left
  - Center
  - Right

5. In the **Receipt Header Options** section you can display up to five lines of text. An example would be the merchant's address, phone, and/or Website address.

Receipt Header Options	Justification Left
Header Line 1	Header Left Justified
Header Line 2	Header Left Justified
Header Line 3	Header Left Justified
Header Line 4	
Header Line 5	

#### To Set Up Receipt Trailer Options

**Receipt Trailer Options** configures the structure for the receipt footer. To enable or disable the printing of each footer line, you can add or remove data from the **Trailer Line** field.

- 6. In the **Receipt Trailer Options** section, in the header text **Justification** drop down select from the following to determine the placement of the text on the receipt:
  - Left
  - Center
  - Right
- 7. In the **Receipt Trailer Options** section you can display up to two lines of text. An example would be a thank you message to the customer.

Receipt Trailer Options		Justification Right	•
Trailer Line 1	Trailer Right Justified		
Trailer Line 2	Trailer Right Justified		

#### To Set Up Receipt Custom Fields

**Receipt Custom Options** configures up to ten (10) additional user-defined fields to appear on either the parallel or serial receipts.

Receipt Custom Fields			
Custom Label 1	Custom Label 1	Custom Field	Custom Field 1
Custom Label 2	Custom Label 2	Custom Field	Custom Field 1
Custom Label 3	Custom Label 3	Custom Field	Custom Field 1
Custom Label 4		Custom Field	
Custom Label 5		Custom Field	•
Custom Label 6		Custom Field	•
Custom Label 7		Custom Field	
Custom Label 8		Custom Field	<b>•</b>
Custom Label 9		Custom Field	•
Custom Label 10		Custom Field	

- 8. Enter descriptive label must be entered in the **Custom Label** field.
- 9. To link to a defined custom field, select a value from the **Custom Field** drop-down list.

<b>Receipt Custom Fields</b>			
Custom Label 1	Custom Label 1	Custom Field	Custom Field 1
Custom Label 2	Custom Label 2	Custom Field	Custom Field 1
Custom Label 3	Custom Label 3	Custom Field	
Custom Label 4		Custom Field	Custom Field 1
Custom Label 5		Custom Field	Another Custom Field 😼
Custom Label 6		Custom Field	Custom Field2 Convenience Fee
Custom Label 7		Custom Field	Base Amount
Custom Label 8		Custom Field	CustomData1
Custom Label 9		Custom Field	
Custom Label 10		Custom Field	<b>•</b>
	Update	Cancel	

10. Click **Update**.

The Printer Configuration screen indicates that your update was successful.

Printer Configuration
This form is used to configure all of the printer options.
Update succeeded.
Printer Configuration
Printer Options
Printer Type: Parallel Printer

The following receipt example illustrates steps 1 through 10 applied:

```
Header Left Justified
                                                    Header Left Justified
Header Left Justified
                                                    Header Left Justified
                                                    Header Left Justified
Header Left Justified
E4 US Retail
                                                    E4 US Retail
0017340009997772229998
                                                    0017340009997772229998
    Date: 08/05/2014
                        02:37:59 PM
                                                        Date: 08/05/2014
                                                                             02:37:59 PM
           CREDIT CARD SALE
                                                                CREDIT CARD SALE
                                                    CARD NUMBER: ********9990 S
CARD NUMBER: ********9990 S
TRAN AMOUNT: $1.00
                                                    TRAN AMOUNT: $1.00
APPROVAL CD: CVI852
                                                    APPROVAL CD: CV1852
RECORD #: 000
                                                    RECORD #: 000
CLERK ID: Clerk1
                                                    CLERK ID:
                                                                Clerk1
Custom Label 1: My Custom Field Data
Custom Label 2: My Custom Field Data
                                                   Custom Label 1: My Custom Field Data
                                                   Custom Label 2: My Custom Field Data
Custom Label 3: My Custom Field Data
                                                  Custom Label 3: My Custom Field Data
Х_
                                                                     Trailer Right Justified
                Jane Doe
                                                                     Trailer Right Justified
I AGREE TO PAY THE ABOVE TOTAL AMOUNT
                                                                 Customer Copy
ACCORDING TO THE CARD ISSUER AGREEMENT
(MERCHANT AGREEMENT IF CREDIT VOUCHER)
                 Trailer Right Justified
                 Trailer Right Justified
             Merchant Copy
```

**Note:** For placement of custom fields on the receipt, refer to the <u>To Rearrange Payment</u> <u>Fields</u> section.
# **Setting Up Payment Forms**

This function allows you to set up the following forms:

- Payment Form
- Receipt Form
- E-mail Form



# **Configuring Payment Forms**

The **Payment Form Setup** screen allows you to change the basic structure of the HTML payment form used for an e-Commerce site.

To configure your payment form, you can:

- Create header and footer text
- Edit and delete header and footer text
- Edit the form color
- Add header logo and background images to display on your payment form
- Set alignment for header logo on your payment form
- Remove header logo and background images from your payment form
- Preview the payment form

# To Create Header and Footer Text

1. Select Terminal | Payment Form | Payment Form.

The **Payment Form** displays.

Payment Form		
This section is used to configure the	e display options of the consumer payment	form.
Payment Form Setup		
Payment form Header Footer		
Payment Form Header		Editor
Payment Form Footer		Editor
	Pr	eview
Payment form Color		Header
Body Background:	White RGB Value: #FFFFFF	
Body and Table Text:	Black RGB Value: #000000	Table
Table Header and Border:	RGB Value: #294984	background / text
Table Header Text and Background:	White RGB Value: #FFFFFF	
Html Hyperlink Tags:	Blue RGB Value: #0000FF	Link
Payment form Images		
Header Logo Image:	None Selected	
	I	Browse
Header Logo Justification:	⊙ Left O Center O Right	
Background Image:	None Selected	Browse
		browse
Update	Cancel Restore Defaults Preview	w

2. Click the **Editor** button to the right of **Payment Form Header**.

Note: The same steps apply to configure the form footer.

# The **Text Editor** screen displays.

🖉 Converge Pay - Windows Internet Explorer	
	<u>^</u>
-	
	Save
	Reset Text
	Clear Text
	Preview
	Cancel
	Help
×	
Tag Wizard Tag Legend Edit Wizard Preview	
	-1
•	

Note: You have two options to configure your **Payment Form Header**: **Text Editor** window or the **Tag Wizard** button.

#### To Configure Your Payment Form Header using the Text Editor Window

1. Enter the text you want to appear on the form header.

Note: The same steps apply to configure the form footer.

- 2. Click **Preview** to view the text as it will appear in the header.
- 3. Click **Save** to save the text.

The **Text Editor** screen closes and the text you entered displays on the **Payment Form** screen.

Payment Form	
This section is used to configure	e the display options of the consumer payment form.
Payment Form Setup	
Payment form Header Footer	
Payment Form Header	ABC Company 123 Main St. Any City, Any State 99999 999-999-9999
Payment Form Footer	Editor
Sym Color	Preview

#### Notes:

- Click **Clear Text** or **Reset Text** if you need to remove unsaved text from the **Text Editor** screen.
- Click **Cancel** to close the **Text Editor**, cancel or delete unsaved work.
- Click **Help** to display the help page for the **Text Editor** page.

# To Configure Your Payment Form Header Using the Tag Wizard Button

1. Click **Tag Wizard** to enter header text.

Note: The same steps apply to configure the form footer.

Converge Pay - Windows Internet Explorer	_ <b>_</b> ×
Enter Text Here:	
Line Attributes:	
In-Line Text:      Line Break:	
Paragraph: O	
Text Attributes:	
Font: Custom Color (RGB): Color: #	
Size: Insert	
Bold: Reset	
Italic:	
Underline: Cancel	
	F

# The Tag Wizard screen displays.

**Note: Tag Wizard** defines the properties of text in either the header or the footer messages.

- 2. In the Enter Text Here text box, enter the basic text to add to the header or footer.
- 3. In the **Line Attributes** section, select the option to define how the text entered into the previous box appears on the form.

4. In the **Text Attributes** section, select text attributes to define display properties of the text.

💋 Converge Pay - Windows Internet Explorer	_ 🗆 🗙
Enter Text Here:	<u> </u>
ABC Company	
123 Main St. Any City, Any State 99999	
999-999-9999	
Line Attributes:	
In-Line Text: O Line Break: O	
Paragraph:      Alignment: Center	
Text Attributes:	
Font: Arial Custom Color (RGB):	
Color: Green 💌 # 008000	
Size: Large 🗸 Insert	
Bold: Reset	
Italic:	
Underline: Cancel	
J	121

5. Click **Insert**.

The screen closes and the text you entered displays along with the attributes you selected in the **Text Editor** screen.

6. Click the **Save** button to save the text.

#### To Edit and Delete Header and Footer Text

1. Click on the Editor button to the right of Payment Form Header.

**Note:** The same steps apply to configure the form footer.

2. On the Text Editor screen, click Edit Wizard.



The following screen displays.



- 3. Select the radio button next to the Tag Options you want to edit.
- 4. Click Edit to revise, Delete to remove the tag, or Cancel to return to the previous screen.

- 5. If you choose **Edit**, the **Text Editor** screen displays for you to revise and save your new header or footer.
- 6. If you chose **Delete**, the **Text Editor** screen displays. Click **Save** and the system removes the header or footer.

#### To Edit the Payment Form Color

Under **Payment Form Color** on the **Payment Form Setup** screen, make your modifications as desired. Changes appear in the **Preview** section as shown below. Colors can be either selected from the drop-down list or you can enter the RGB color value in the free text field.

				Previev	N
Payment form Color					
Body Background:	White 💌	RGB Value:	#FFFFFF		leader
Body and Table Text:	Black 💌	RGB Value:	#000000		Table
Table Header and Border:	Lime 💌	RGB Value:	#00FF00	L	
Table Header Text and Background:	White 💌	RGB Value:	#FFFFFF		background / text
Html Hyperlink Tags:	Blue 💌	RGB Value:	#0000FF		Link

#### To Add a Header Logo to Display on Payment Form

1. Under **Payment Form Images** on the **Payment Form Setup** screen, click the **Browse** button and select an image for the **Header Logo Image**.

Payment form Images	
Header Logo Image:	None Selected Browse
Header Logo Justification:	Left O Center O Right
Background Image:	None Selected
	Browse

# 2. Click Update.

The image filename displays along with a message that states that the payment form updated successfully. In addition, the **Remove** button displays, which enables you to remove the logo.

Payment form Images		
Header Logo Image:	SmallLogoTestjpg Remove	Browse
Header Logo Justification:	O Left      O Center O Right	
Background Image:	None Selected	
		Browse

#### Notes:

- If you try to upload an image that the file type is not supported you will receive an error message.
- The supported file types are jpg, jpeg, or gif.
- 3. Select Left, Center, or Right to align the logo as desired and click Update.

Note: The default alignment of the logo set up for a terminal as left justified.

# To Add a Background Image to Display on Payment Form

- 1. Under **Payment Form Images** on the **Payment Form Setup** screen, click the **Browse** button and select an image for the **Background Image**.
- 2. Click Update.

The image filename displays along with a message that states that the payment form updated successfully. In addition, the **Remove** button displays, which enables you to remove the background image.

Payment form Images	
Header Logo Image:	SmallLogoTest.jpg Remove Browse
Header Logo Justification:	O Left S Center O Right
Background Image:	BackgroundTest.jpg Remove
	Browse

#### Notes:

- If you try to upload an image that the file type is not supported you will receive an error message.
- The supported file types are jpg, jpeg, or gif.

# To Remove Header Logo and Background Images from Payment Form

1. Under **Payment Form Images** on the **Payment Form Setup** screen, to remove a header logo image or the background image, click the **Remove** button.

Payment form Images		
Header Logo Image:	SmallLogoTest.jpg Remove	Browse
Header Logo Justification:	C Left C Center C Right	
Background Image:	None Selected	
		Browse

#### 2. Click Update.

The system removes the image and displays a message that states that the payment form updated successfully.

Payment Form		
This section is used to configure the	display options of the consumer payment	t form.
Payment Form update succeeded.		
Payment Form Setup		
Payment form Header Footer		
Payment Form Header		Editor
Payment Form Footer		Editor
	P	review
Payment form Color		Header
Body Background:	White RGB Value: #FFFFFF	
Body and Table Text: Table Header and Border:	Black RGB Value: #000000	Table
Table Header Text and Background:	White RGB Value: #FFFFFF	background / text
Html Hyperlink Tags:	Blue RGB Value: #0000FF	Link
Payment form Images Header Logo Image:	None Selected	
lindoor zegennege.		Browse
Header Logo Justification:	CLeft O Center O Right	
Background Image:	None Selected	
		Browse
Update	Cancel Restore Defaults Previo	9W

#### Notes:

- Editing can be performed at one time or to individual sections and then click **Update** when completed.
- To remove all editing at once click **Restore Defaults**.

#### **To Preview Payment Form**

To view the payment form as it will be displayed to a consumer, select the **Preview** button at the bottom of the screen.

Payment Forr	۱	
This section is used to c	onfigure the display options of the consumer payment form.	
Payment Form Se		
- uong.	Update Cancel Restore Defaults Preview	



# The following payment form example illustrates the preceding steps applied:

# **Configuring Receipt Forms**

The **Receipt Form** screen configures the options to accurately display the transaction authorization results from the Converge payment form.

1. Select Terminal | Payment Form | Receipt Form.

# The Receipt Form displays.

Receipt Form
This section is used to configure the display options of the consumer receip form. Note that all fields with an asterisk (*) are required.
Consumer Receipt Setup
Receipt Form - Approval
Link Method Hyperlink
Button Text Continue Shopping *
URL
Receipt Header Editor
Receipt Footer Editor
Receipt Form - Declined
Link Method Hyperlink
Button Text Continue Shopping *
URL
Receipt Header Editor
Receipt Footer Editor
Receipt Form - Error URL
URL
Update Cancel Restore Defaults

2. Enter relevant information in the Receipt Form - Approval section.

#### Notes:

- This section is used to identify how the authorization response page is handled from the Converge payment form for approved transactions.
- **Only Button Text** is required. All other fields are optional.
- For **Link Method** options refer to the <u>Receipt Form Table Options</u> for more information.

3. Enter relevant information in the **Receipt Form - Declined** section.

# Notes:

- This section identifies how the authorization response page is handled from the Converge payment form for declined transactions.
- Only **Button Text** is required. All other fields are optional.
- For **Link Method** options refer to the <u>Receipt Form Table Options</u> for more information.
- 4. Enter relevant information in the **Receipt Form Error** URL section.
- 5. Click **Update**.

# **Receipt Form Option Table:**

Options	Description		
Link Method	This selection offers four methods to create the receipt link.		
	• <b>Hyperlink</b> Displays the link back to the Web site specified in the URL field as a text link on the Converge response page.		
	• Form GET Displays the link back to the Web site specified in the URL field as a button on the Converge response page. The response data is returned to the site in the form of a GET.		
	• Form POST Displays the link back to the Web site specified in the URL field as a button on the Converge response page. The response data is returned to the site in the form of a POST.		
	• Get Redirect Re-directs the response from the Converge payment form to the URL defined in the URL field in the form of a GET.		
Button Text	Allows you to specify the text that appears as the link on your Web site or response page. This option is only applicable for the <b>Hyperlink</b> , <b>Form GET</b> and <b>Form POST Link Method</b> options.		

Options	Description		
URL	Allows you to attach a URL address on your receipts to give your customer' easy access back to your Web site. You have three protocol options for your URL:		
	<ul> <li>HTTP Hyper Text Transfer Protocol</li> <li>HTTPS Hyper Text Transfer Protocol Secure</li> <li>FTP File Transfer Protocol</li> </ul>		
Receipt Header	Allows you to add a customized message that appears at the top of the declined transaction response page.		
Receipt Footer	Allows you to add a customized message to appear at the bottom of the declined transaction response page.		

# **Configuring Email Options**

To configure your email options, you may do the following:

- Set up your email notifications
- Restore default settings

Select Terminal | Payment Form | E-mail Form.

# The **Email Setup Form** displays.

Email Setup Form
This section is used to configure the email options.
Email Notification Setup
Email Options Approval
Notify Merchant of Transaction Approval
Notify Customer of Transaction Approval
Email Header Editor
Email Footer Editor
Subject Order Confirmation Field Please Select Field
Email Options Decline
Notify Merchant of Transaction Decline
Notify Customer of Transaction Decline
Email Header Editor
Email Footer Editor
Subject Failed Order Confirmation Field Please Select Field 💌
Update Cancel Restore Defaults

# To Set Up Email Notification for Approved Transactions

Use the **Email Options Approval** section to determine who receives email notifications for approved transactions and to modify **Email Header**, **Email Footer**, **Subject**, and **Field** formats so custom messages can be presented.

 To use the email address you specified in the Merchant Information section (refer to the Setting Up Merchant Information section), select the Notify Merchant of Transaction Approval check box to generate a merchant confirmation email upon approval.

**Note:** If the check box is not selected, an approval confirmation email will not be sent to the merchant.

2. To use the email address specified by the customer during the transaction, select the **Notify Customer of Transaction Approval** check box to generate a customer approval email.

**Note:** If the check box is not selected, an approval email will not be sent to the customer.

3. To add a custom message at the top of the approval email, click the **Editor** button on the right side of the form next to the **Email Header** field.

The following	dialog	box	displays.	
The following	alalog	DOX	anspiays.	

🤔 Converge Pay - Windows Internet Explorer	
	<u>^</u>
<u>^</u>	
	Save
	Reset Text
	Clear Text
	Preview
	Cancel
	Help
×	
Tag Wizard Tag Legend Edit Wizard	
Preview	
•	

For more information on how to use **Tag Wizard** or the **Edit Wizard** buttons refer to the <u>To Configure Your Payment Form Header Using the Tag Wizard Button</u> section.

- 4. Enter and **Save** your message.
- 5. To add a custom message at the bottom of the approval email, click the **Editor** button on the right side of the form next to the **Email Footer** field.

Enter and **Save** your message in the dialog box that displays.

6. To add a custom **Subject** line to the email, type in the message you want displayed in the subject line and select the **Field** you want displayed. You have the option to select the invoice, description, or any custom field you have setup for this terminal.

**Note:** To set up custom fields, refer to the <u>To Add New Payment Fields</u> section for more information.

#### To Set Up Email Notification for Declined Transactions

Use the **E-mail Options Decline** section to determine who receives email notifications for declined transactions and to modify email header and footer formats to customize messages.

 To use the email address you specified in the Merchant Information section, select the Notify Merchant of Transaction Decline check box to generate a merchant email upon a transaction decline.

**Note:** If the check box is not selected, a decline confirmation email will not be sent to the merchant.

2. To use the email address specified by the customer during the transaction, select the **Notify Customer of Transaction Decline** check box to generate a customer decline email.

Note: If the check box is not selected, a decline email will not be sent to the customer.

3. To add a custom message at the top of the decline email, select the **Editor** button on the right side of the form next to the **Email Header** field.

🖉 Converge Pay - Windows Internet Explorer	
Converge Pay - windows Internet Explorer	Save Reset Text
	Clear Text Preview Cancel Help
Tag Wizard Tag Legend Edit Wizard Preview	<u>.</u>
•	

The following dialog box displays.

For more information on how to use **Tag Wizard** or the **Edit Wizard** buttons refer to the <u>To Configure Your Payment Form Header Using the Tag Wizard Button</u> section.

- 4. Enter and **Save** your message in the dialog box that displays.
- 5. To add a custom message at the bottom of the decline email, select the **Editor** button on the right side of the form next to the **Email Footer** field.
- 6. Enter and **Save** your message in the dialog box that displays.
- 7. To add a custom **Subject** line to the email, type in the message you want displayed in the subject line and the **Field** you want displayed.

**Note:** You can add a custom field for your **Subject** line. Refer to the <u>To Add New</u> <u>Payment Fields</u> section for more information.

8. Click **Update** to save any modifications.

**Note:** Once you click **Update**, you cannot revert to the old information; however, you can click **Restore Defaults** to revert all of the fields to the Converge default values.

# Setting Up Advanced Settings (Advanced Menu)

This section describes the following options:

- System Setup
- Error Messages
- Fraud Prevention Rules
- Business Rules

# Terminal The Advance Setup function allows you to set up the System and Error Messages.

- Advanced
  - System Setup
  - Error Messages
  - Fraud Prevention Rules
  - Business Rules

# **Configuring System Setup**

System Setup allows you to:

- Configure your HTTP options
- Configure your processing options
- Configure your device options
- Configure your Export options

# **To Configure Your HTTP Options**

You can add HTTP referrers to the payment form.

# 1. Select Terminal | Advanced | System Setup.

The System Setup screen displays.

System Setup
This form is used configure the advanced system settings.
Advanced Configuration
HTTP Options
Use HTTP Referrers
Authorized Referrers
Add Referrer
Processing Options
Auto Rend HTTP Transactions
ant II
Authenus .u
Confirmation String
Update Cancel

2. To be able to prevent all except authorized referrers from linking to your site, click the **Use HTTPS Referrers** check box.

#### Notes:

- This assures you that only your Web site is sending transactions to your account.
- To be able to perform transactions from a Web site or integrated solution outside of the Converge Terminal, the **Enable HTTPS Transaction** check box needs to be enabled on the **Terminal Configuration** screen. Contact Customer Support to enable this flag.
- Refer to the Converge Developer Guide for details on Web site integration.

# To Add a Referrer

- To be able to select the sites that you wish to authorize to link to your site, type the full URL (include the http or https) into the **Add Referrer** field (for example, https://www.mywebsite.com/paymentpage.html).
- 2. Click the Add Referrers button.

The **System Setup** screen displays the URL added and a message that the update successfully added.

System Setup
This form is used configure the advanced system settings.
Authorized Referrer successfully added.
Advanced Configuration
HTTP Options         Use HTTP Referrers         Authorized Referrers         https://www.mywebsite.com/paymentpage.html         Delete         Add Referrer
Confirmation

3. Click the **Update** button to update your system setup.

#### Notes:

- Add each referrer separately.
- Choosing options can be performed at one time or to individual sections and then click **Update** when completed.

# To Remove a Referrer

1. Click the **Delete** button to the right of the URL you want to delete.

The system removes the selected URL and displays a message that the referrer was successfully removed.

2. Click the **Update** button to update your system setup.

# **To Configure Your Processing Options**

Your Processing Options allow you to:

- Set up an EMV capable terminal
- Set up an *e-Commerce* or *MOTO* terminal to accept encrypted hand key on device
- Set up an *e-Commerce* profile for 3D Secure
- Add a MasterPass wallet to a terminal (Canadian *e-Commerce* terminal)
- Create a schedule to automatically settle your transactions

# To Set Up Terminal with an EMV Device

To set up an EMV capable profile for *retail* and *service* terminals, follow these steps:

- 1. Select a profile configured as a *retail* or *service* terminal from your list of available profiles.
- 2. Select Terminal | Advanced | System Setup.

- 3. Under the **Processing Options** section, select the **Enable EMV Chip Cards** check box.
- 4. Click **Update** to save this system setting.

# To Set Up Terminal with Encrypting Hand Key Device

To set up a terminal to accept encrypted keyed transactions using a device, follow these steps:

- 1. Select a profile configured as a *e*-*Commerce* or *MOTO* terminal from your list of available profiles.
- 2. Select Terminal | Advanced | System Setup.

System Setup	
This form is used configure the advance	ced system settings.
Configuration	$\sim$
Add Referre.	
Processing Options	
Enable Encrypted Hand Key on Device	V
3DSecure	V
Auto Settlement	
Auto Settlement Time (EST)	6 P.M. 🗸
Settle Recurring Transactions Next Day	
ntions	$\sim$
	Update Cancel

- 3. Under the **Processing Options** section, select the **Enable Encrypted Hand Key on Device** check box.
- 4. Click **Update** to save this system setting.

Users are now able to key in cardholder data directly into a supported device. Refer to the *Converge Peripheral Device Installation and Setup Guide* for more information.

#### To Set Up 3D Secure

To set up an e-Commerce profile for 3D Secure, follow these steps:

- 1. Select a profile configured as an Internet terminal from your list of available profiles.
- 2. Select Terminal | Advanced | System Setup.



Confirm			 -1
	Update	Cancel	

- 3. Under the **Processing Options** section, select the **3DSecure** check box.
- 4. Click **Update** to save this system setting.

#### To Set Up MasterPass Wallet

To set up a Canadian e-Commerce profile for MasterPass wallet, follow these steps:

- 1. Select a profile configured as an Internet terminal from your list of available profiles.
- 2. Select Terminal | Advanced | System Setup.

System Setup	
This form is used configure the advan	ced system settings.
A ced Configuration	
Add K.	
3DSecure	
MasterPass	
Auto Pend HTTP Transactions	
Auto Settlement	
Auto Settlement Time (EST)	×
Settle Recurring Transactions Next Day	
Sons	

Confirm			 -1
	Upda	te Cancel	

- 3. Under the **Processing Options** section, select the **MasterPass** check box.
- 4. Click **Update** to save this system setting.

#### To Automatically Settle Your Transactions

- 1. To automatically settle your transactions, select the Auto Settlement check box.
- 2. In the Auto Settlement Time (EST) drop-down list, select your settlement hour.

#### Notes:

- Auto Settlement Time:
  - Settles all unpended transactions from the **Current Batches** queue at a specified time each day, Eastern Standard Time (EST).

- Transactions with a timestamp after the auto-settlement time will be settled in the next day's batch.
- Can be changed after your current **Auto Settlement Time** has passed.
- Your current batches will not settle until the newly selected time the following day.
- When a terminal is setup for one of the following payment types: **Debit**, **Check**, **Food Stamps**, **Cash Benefits**, or **Check**, the terminal is forced to auto settle at 4:00 AM Eastern Standard Time (EST). However, the merchant can change the auto settlement time.
- Once **Multi-Currency** is enabled, the terminal is forced to auto settle at 6:00 PM Eastern Standard Time (EST).
  - The merchant has no choice in the settlement time.
  - Manual settlement is not allowed.
  - Funds must be delivered at 6:00 PM EST to ensure the best exchange rates possible.
- 3. To exclude recurring transactions in the current settlement run and include them in the next day's run, select the **Settle Recurring Transactions Next Day** check box.

#### Notes:

- If the **Settle Recurring Transactions Next Day** check box is unchecked, Converge includes recurring transactions in the current settlement run.
- When you add a new terminal, Converge sets up the terminal to include recurring transactions in the current settlement run by default (uncheck the **Settle Recurring Transactions Next Day** check box).
- Converge allows you to set up terminals to exclude recurring transactions from the current settlement run and include them in the next day's run (check the **Settle Recurring Transactions Next Day** check box).
- 4. Click **Update** to update your settlement time.

# To Configure Your Signature Capture Device Options

You can set the **Signature Capture Device Option** to your choice of devices when you have a certified device connected to your PC that will accept signatures. This function allows you to capture signature images when you enter transactions. This function also allows you to add signatures to open and settled transactions.

1. To set up a terminal for a signature capture device, select either the **Hypercom L5200** or the **Ingenico ISC250** check box.

System Setup		
This form is used configure the advanced system settings.		
Advanced Configuration		
HTTP Options		
Use HTTP Referrers		
Authorized Referrers		
Add Referrer		
Processing Options		
Enable EMV Chip Cards		
Auto Settlement		
Auto Settlement Time (EST) 4 A.M. V		
Settle Recurring Transactions Next Day		
Signature Capture Device Options		
O None		
O Hypercom L5200		
Ingenico ISC250		
Ontions		
Confirma.		
Update Cancel		

2. Click **Update** to accept signature images.

#### Notes:

- In order for the **Hypercom L5200** device to work properly you must download and install DeviceAssistant. Refer to the *Converge Peripheral Device Installation and Setup Guide* for more information on DeviceAssistant.
- In order for the **Ingenico ISC250** device to work properly you must download and install ConvergeConnect. Refer to the *Converge Peripheral Device Installation and Setup Guide* for more information on ConvergeConnect.

# **To Configure Your Export Options**

You can set up the **Export Script** setting to specify a URL for approved, declined or error transactions. All transactions will send an export script to the specified location. Export scripts allow you to request the results of your payment transactions be returned to your Web site for inventory purposes, sales analysis, or customer database maintenance. Converge offers a post approval or export script that posts results to your system after completing each transaction.

# 1. Select Terminal | Advanced | System Setup.

The **System Setup** screen displays.

System Setup
This form is used configure the advanced system settings.
Advanced Configuration
Pontions

ī	Settle K	ons Nex.
L		
l	Export Options	
l	Enable Export Script	
	Approval URL	http://www.ismerchant.ca/xportscripts/VM_XportScript_
	Declined URL	http://www.ismerchant.ca/xportscripts/VM_XportScript_
l	Error URL	http://www.ismerchant.ca/xportscripts/VM_XportScript_
l	Authentication Username	
l	Authentication Password	
	Confirmation String	
		Update Cancel

2. Select the **Enable Export Script** check box.

The **Enable Export Script** checkbox defaults to unchecked. The remaining fields are readonly and become editable when you select the **Enable Export Script** check box.

- 3. Enter an **Approval URL** to indicate where your approved transactions will go.
- 4. Enter a Decline URL to indicate where your declined transaction will go.
- 5. Enter an **Error URL** to indicate where your errors will go.
- 6. Enter an Authentication Username and Authentication Password.
- 7. Enter a **Confirmation String**.

#### Notes:

- When you enter a value for authentication username, you must enter a value for authentication password, and conversely, if you enter a value for the authentication password, the authentication username is required.
- The confirmation string is optional. however, if you want to provide a confirmation string, it must be used in conjunction with the username and password.
- 8. Click **Update** to update your export script settings.

**Note:** Choosing options can be performed at one time or to individual sections and then click **Update** when completed.

# **Customizing Error Messages**

Any user is able to click on an error message and update the message description. The error number cannot be updated. The **Custom Error Messages** screen allows you to create custom error messages when an error message is returned when a transaction could not be authorized.

If there is no custom message listed in the **Custom Message** field, the default message displays when the error is returned on the transaction that was not authorized.

If there is a value in the **Custom Message** field, this message displays on the unauthorized transaction, in place of the default message.

1. Select Terminal | Advanced | Error Messages.

# The **Custom Error Messages** screen displays.

Custom Error Messages Al configurable error messages are displayed here.			
Error Message List			
Number	Error Name	Default Message	Custom Message
3000	Gateway not responding	Error, no response.	Error, no response.
3001	Gateway generated error	R.	B.
3002	Adapter generated error	8.	#.
4000	VID Not Supplied	The Virtual/Intrchant ID was not supplied in the authorization request.	The VirtualMerchant ID was not supplied in the authorization request.
4001	VID, UID and PIN Invalid	The Virtualillerchant ID, User ID and/or PIN supplied in the authorization request is invalid.	The VirtualMerchant ID, User ID and/or PIN supplied in the authorization request is invalid.
4002	HTTP Trans Not Allowed	HTTP POST transactions are not allowed for this account.	HTTP POST transactions are not allowed for this account.
4003	HTTP Referrer Invalid	HTTP POST transactions are not allowed for this HTTP Referrer.	HTTP POST transactions are not allowed for this HTTP Referrer.
4005	E-mail Address Invalid	The E-mail Address supplied in the authorization request appears to be invalid.	The E-mail Address supplied in the authorization request appears to be invalid.
4044	And Mick Requested With Data	The CVV2 indicator was not identified in the request.	The CW2 individual Aldertified in the authorization

2. To customize a specific error, select the Error Name in the Error Message List.

The **Custom Error** screen displays.

(	Custom Error			
٦	This form is used change the default error message settings.			
ļ	Custom Message			
	Number	4005		
Error Name E-mail Address Invalid		E-mail Address Invalid		
	Default Message	The E-mail Address supplied in the authorization request appears to be invalid.		
	Custom Message	The E-mail Address supplied in the authorization request appears to be invalid. Please enter a valid E-mail Address.		



3. To customize a specific error message, enter the desired message into the **Custom Message** field. The error message cannot exceed 255 characters.

Note: The text in this field does not support customized HTML code.

- 4. Click Update to save your changes.
- 5. When you have defined a custom message for the selected error, a Use Default button displays. To revert to the original message, click the Use Default button.

# Setting Up Fraud Prevention Rules

The Fraud Prevention Rules screen displays a list of filters available to you. This screen allows you to manage the global and local terminal settings for the Fraud Prevention Rules in your terminal. This table gives you an overview of all rules available to you, indicating the ones that have been enabled or disabled. You must click on each rule separately to view or modify the current settings.

Fraud Prev	rention Rules		
	ion rules screen displays a list of filters available to you. Click on the filter you woul t you get familiar with the capabilities of each of these filters to determine which o		
Rule	Description	Global Settings	Terminal Settings
Auto Pend Filter	This filter enables you to designate which transaction types you want to set to pend. If you are using this filter and receive approved transactions they will be automatically pended when entered through the Converge integration. Merchant must login to the application in order to release those transactions from the "Pend" state. Pended Transactions cannot be settled until they are un-pended.		Enabled
Merchant IP	This fitter enables you to designate and maintain a list of IP addresses from which you allow transactions to originate. If you are using this fitter and receive transactions from an IP Address the endowed list, the transactions flowed list.		Disabled
imail Domain ilter	, you to validate tree wentered by cardnow a very yourain. If you are using this filter and receive transactions from an Email address with an invalid domain, an error will be returned.		Disabled
Fransaction Filter	This filter enables you to specify a time limit, between 1 and 15 minutes; for a single transaction. If the transaction exceeds the time allowed for processing, it will be		Disabled

#### Notes:

declined.

- Merchants are asked to get familiar with the capabilities of each of these filters and • monitor their processing trends to determine which ones work best for their business needs.
- Rules are only triggered through integration and do not apply to any transaction initiated • from the user interface (Virtual Terminal).

The available filters are as follows:

- Auto Pend Filter
- Merchant IP Address Filter
- Mobile Payment Filter
- IP Address Filter
  - Individual/Ranges Filter
  - Country IP Address Filter
- Country Filter
  - Billing Country Filter
  - Shipping Country Filter
- IP Address & Country Mismatch Filter
  - IP Address & Billing Country Mismatch Filter
  - IP Address & Shipping Country Mismatch Filter
- Email Address Filter
- Card Number Filter
- Transaction Velocity Filter
- Email Domain Filter
- Transaction Timeout Filter

# **To Update Auto Pend Settings**

The **Auto-Pend Filter** screen allows you to manage the **Auto Pend** settings for your terminal. These settings enable you to designate and maintain a list of the transaction types that you want to set to pend. You may choose to pend **Credit Card Sale**, **Credit Card Auth Only**, **Credit Card Force** or **Credit Card Returns**.

If you use this filter and receive approved transactions, they will be automatically pended when entered through the Converge integration. You must log on to the application to release those transactions from the **Pended** state. Pended transactions cannot be settled until they are unpended.

# To Pend a Transaction Type:

1. Select Terminal | Advanced | Fraud Protection Rules.

The Fraud Protection Rules screen displays.

2. Click Auto Pend Filter.

# The Auto Pend Filter screen displays.

Auto Pend Filter		
This filter enables you to designate which transaction types you want to set to pend. You may choose to pend Credit Card Sale, Credit Card Auth Only, Credit Card Force or Credit Card Returns. If you are using this filter and receive approved transactions they will be automatically pended when entered through the Converge integration. Merchant must login to the application in order to release those transactions from the "Pend" state. Pended Transactions cannot be settled until they are un-pended.		
IMPORTANT NOTES: By enabling the filter check box and selecting the update button, you are activating the filter settings for your terminal immediately. The filter will be appled to those transactions you have specified. You may modify, enable, or disable this filter at any time.		
Auto Pend Transactions Settings		
Enable Auto Pend Settings		
Please select the transactions you want to Auto Pend		
Credit Card Sale		
Credit Card Auth Only		
Credit Card Force		
Credit Card Return		
Update Cancel		

3. Select the transaction types that you want to auto pend.

Note: Must select transaction *before* selecting the **Enable Auto Pend Settings** checkbox.

4. Select the Enable Auto Pend Settings check box.

A message displays to confirm activation.



5. Click **OK**.

#### Notes:

- To disable activation, uncheck the **Enable Auto Pend Settings** check box. A message displays to confirm deactivation.
- You must choose at least one transaction type to enable this filter.
- The filter applies to all transactions entered through the integration.

#### 6. Click Update.

A message displays that the fraud value successfully updated.

Fraud value successfully updated.			
Auto Pend Transactions Settings			
Enable Auto Pend Settings			
Please select the transactions you want to Auto Pend			
Credit Card Sale			
Credit Card Auth Only			
Credit Card Force			
Credit Card Return			
Update Cancel			

The settings for your terminal are immediately activated and the filter will be applied to all transaction types specified.

# **To Update Merchant IP Address Settings**

The **Merchant IP Address Filter** screen allows you to manage the merchant IP address settings for your terminal. These settings enable you to designate and maintain a list of IP addresses from which you allow transactions to originate. If you use this filter and receive transactions from an IP address that is not in your allowed list, the transactions will be declined.

The **Merchant IP Address Filter** settings only have a local setting; there is no global setting for this rule. You only have one checkbox that is used to enable/disable the rule for the terminal.

Merchant IP Address Filter			
This filter enables you to designate and maintain a list of IP addresses from which you allow transactions to originate.			
If you are using this fiter and receive transactions from an IP Address that is not in your allow	ed list, the transactions will be declined.		
IMPORTANT NOTE: By enabling the fiter check box and selecting the update button, you are activating the fiter settings for your terminal immediately. The fiter will be appled to all transactions received. You may modify, enable, or disable this fiter at any time.			
Merchant IP Address Settings			
Enable IP Address Settings			
Please add an individual (all 4 octets Ex. XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX) or a range (first 2 or 3 octets Ex. XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX			
Add			
Display: 25			
2 tems			
1 X0XX00XX00X00X Remove 2 X0XX00XX00X Remove			
Update Cancel			

#### To Add a Merchant IP Address

1. Select Terminal | Advanced | Fraud Protection Rules.

The Fraud Protection Rules screen displays.

2. Click Merchant IP Address Filter.

The Merchant IP Address Filter screen displays.

3. Select the Enable IP Address Settings check box.

A message displays to confirm activation.


4. Click **OK**.

**Note:** To disable activation, uncheck the **Enable IP Address Settings** check box. A message displays to confirm deactivation.

- 5. In the text box provided, enter an individual or a range of IP addresses from which transaction requests can originate.
- 6. Click **Add**.

The newly added IP address displays.

Merc	hant IP Address Setti	gs	
	Enable IP Address Setti	S	
XXX		octets Ex. XXX.XXX.XXX ) or a range (first 2 or 3 octets B addresses from which transaction requests can originate. enable this filter.	
		Add	
Disp	lay:	25 🔽	
3			
1	000.000.000	Remove	
2	3000.3000.3000	Remove	
3	000.000.000.000	Remove	
		Update Cancel	

7. To add another IP address, repeat steps 5 to 6.

#### 8. Click Update.

The settings for your terminal are immediately activated and the filter will be applied to all transactions received. You must add at least one IP address to enable this filter.

## To Remove a Merchant IP Address

1. Click **Remove** next to the IP address you wish to remove.

A message displays to confirm removal.



- 2. Click OK.
- 3. Click Update.

The settings for your terminal are immediately activated and the filter will be applied to all transactions received.

#### **To Update Mobile Payment Settings**

The **Mobile Payment Filter** screen lets you designate and maintain a list of mobile devices from which you allow transactions to originate based on the mobile identification numbers. If you are using this filter and receive transactions from a mobile device that is not in your allowed list, the transactions will be declined.

Mobile Payment Filter	
This filter enables you to designate and maintain a list of mobile devices from which you allow identification numbers.	transactions to originate based on the mobile
If you are using this fiter and receive transactions from a mobile device that is not in your all	owed list, the transactions will be declined.
IMPORTANT NOTE: By enabling the fiter check box and selecting the update button, you are activating the fiter fiter will be applied to all transactions received. You may modify, enable, or disable this fiter at	
Mobile Payment Settings	
Enable Mobile Payment Settings	
Please add the Mobile Identification numbers from which transaction requests can originate. You must add at least one Mobile Identification number to enable this filter.	
Add	
Display: 25	
3 toms	
1 111 Remove	
2 2221115555 Remove	
3 33333 Remove	
Update Cancel	

### To add a mobile payment identification number:

1. Select Terminal | Advanced | Fraud Protection Rules.

The Fraud Protection Rules screen displays.

2. Click Mobile Payment Filter.

The Mobile Payment Filter screen displays.

- 3. Enter the mobile payment number that you want add.
- 4. Click the **Add** button.
- 5. Select the Enable Enable Mobile Payment Settings check box.

A message displays to confirm activation.

Message	from webpage	×
?	You have selected to enable this filter; the filter and its settings will be applied to your transactions once you click on the update button. Do you want to proceed?	
	OK Cancel	

6. Click **OK**.

**Note:** To disable activation, uncheck the **Enable Enable Mobile Payment Settings** check box. A message displays to confirm deactivation.

7. Click Update.

The settings for your terminal are immediately activated and the filter will be applied to all transactions received.

# **To Update IP Address Settings**

The **IP Address Filter** screen enables you to designate and maintain a list of IP addresses of cardholders from which you do not allow transactions to originate. You may enable the Converge global IP address settings or add your own list of IP address settings based on a single IP address or a country IP address to block.

If you use this filter and receive transactions from an IP Address that is in your blocked list or an IP address is not provided, the transactions will be declined.

To block a specific IP address or range of IP addresses, you enter the IP address and click the **Add** button. You can enter IP addresses without enabling the local IP address setting of the rule for the terminal. However, you cannot enable the local IP address setting until at least one IP address is entered; an error message will be displayed when you click the **Update** button.

To block all IP addresses for a country, select a country from the **Country to Accept** box on the left and click the right pointing arrow to move the country to the **Countries to Block** box on the right. You can select countries without enabling the local country setting of the rule for the terminal. However, you cannot enable the local country setting until at least one country is in the **Countries to Block** box; an error message will be displayed when the user clicks the **Update** button.

You can remove IP addresses/countries without disabling the local setting of the rule; however if you remove all entries and click the **Update** button you will get an error message. When removing all entries, you have to uncheck the local setting checkbox before clicking the **Update** button.

At the local level, you can enable/disable the IP address and countries settings individually. Both can be disabled, both can be enabled, or one or the other can be enabled and the other disabled. Converge will only execute the global setting and local settings of this rule for the terminal when the settings are enabled.

At a global level, you can enable/disable the entire rule for the terminal. This includes both the individual/range of IP address and countries. The global setting of this rule always includes the individual IP addresses and the countries.

IP Address Filter
This filter enables you to designate and maintain a list of IP addresses of cardholders from which you do not allow transactions to originate. You may enable the Converge Global IP Address Settings or add your own list of IP Address Settings based on a single IP Address or a Country IP Address to block.
If you are using this filter and receive transactions from an IP Address that is in your blocked list or an IP Address is not provided, the transactions will be declined.
IMPORTANT NOTES: In order to use this fiter you must submit the cardholder IP Address (ssl_cardholder_ip) via process.do and processxml.do with each transaction.
By enabling the filter check box and selecting the Update button, you are activating the filter settings for your terminal immediately. The filter will be applied to all transactions received. You may modify, enable, or disable this filter at any time.
IP Address Filter Settings   Enable Global Settings  The Global IP Address Filter is predetermined list of individual and country IP addresses known for fraudulent adMities. There is no merchant-controlled configuration for this filter; management of this filter is handled exclusively by Elavon.
Enable IP Address Settings
Please add an individual (all 4 octets Ex. XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX
Display: 25
1 X00XX00XX00XX00X Remove
2 X00C00C00C00X Remove
3 X00CX00CX00X Remove
Enable Country IP Address Settings
Countries to Accept Countries to Block
Afghanistan (AFG) United States (USA)
Albania (ALB)
American Samoa (ASM)
Andorra (AND)
Angola (AGO) Anguilla (AlA) >>
Antarctica (ATA) <<
Antigua and Barbuda (ATG)
Argentina (ARG) Armenia (ARM)
Aruba (ABW)
Australia (AUS)
Austria (AUT) Azerbaijan (AZE)
Update Cancel

# To Update the Global IP Address Settings

1. Select Terminal | Advanced | Fraud Protection Rules.

The Fraud Protection Rules screen displays.

2. Click IP Address Filter.

The IP Address Filter screen displays.

3. Select the Enable Global Settings check box, if desired.

A message displays to confirm activation.

Message	from webpage	×
?	You have selected to enable this filter; the filter and its settings will be applied to your transactions once you dick on the update button. Do you want to proceed?	
	OK Cancel	

4. Click OK.

**Note:** To disable activation, uncheck the **Enable Global Settings** check box. A message displays to confirm deactivation.

5. Click Update.

The settings for your terminal are immediately activated and the filter will be applied to all transactions received.

## To Add an IP Address

1. Select Terminal | Advanced | Fraud Protection Rules.

The Fraud Protection Rules screen displays.

2. Click IP Address Filter.

The IP Address Filter screen displays.

3. Select the Enable IP Address Settings check box, if desired.

A message displays to confirm activation.



4. Click OK.

**Note:** To disable activation, uncheck the **Enable IP Address Settings** check box. A message displays to confirm deactivation.

- 5. In the text box provided, enter an individual IP address, or a country IP address, or a range of IP addresses, from which transaction requests are not allowed.
- 6. Click **Add**.

The newly added IP address displays.

- 7. To add another IP address, repeat steps 7 to 8.
- 8. Click Update.

The filter settings for your terminal are immediately activated and the filter will be applied to all transactions received.

#### To Remove an IP Address

1. Click **Remove** next to the IP address you wish to remove.

A message displays to confirm removal.



2. Click **OK**.

# 3. Click Update.

The filter settings for your terminal are immediately activated and the filter will be applied to all transactions received.

## To Update the Country IP Address Settings

1. Select Terminal | Advanced | Fraud Protection Rules.

The Fraud Protection Rules screen displays.

2. Click IP Address Filter.

The IP Address Filter screen displays.

3. Select the Enable Country IP Address Settings check box, if desired.

A message displays to confirm activation.

Message	from webpage	×
?	You have selected to enable this filter; the filter and its settings will be applied to your transactions once you dick on the update button. Do you want to proceed?	
	OK Cancel	

- 4. Click **OK**.
- 5. Under **Countries to Accept**, click the name of the country or countries you wish to block and then click the arrows.

The selected country name moves over to the **Countries to Block** section. To reverse the action, click the name of the country and then click the  $\boxed{<}$  arrows.

6. Click Update.

The filter settings for your terminal are immediately activated and the filter will be applied to all transactions received.

## **To Update Billing Country Settings**

The **Billing Country Filter** screen enables you to designate and maintain a list of billing countries from which you do not allow transactions to originate.

The **Billing Country Filter** has a global setting and a local setting. The first checkbox enables/disables the global setting of the rule for the terminal. The second check box enables/disables the local setting of the rule for the terminal.

To block a country for the terminal, select a country from the box on the left and click the right pointing arrow to move the country to the box on the right. You can select countries without enabling the local setting for the terminal. However, you cannot enable the local setting until at least one country is in the **Countries to Block** box. An error message displays when you click the **Update** button.

### To Update the Global Billing Country Settings

1. Select Terminal | Advanced | Fraud Protection Rules.

The Fraud Protection Rules screen displays.

2. Click Billing Country Filter.

The Billing Country Filter screen displays.

Billing Country Filter
This filter enables you to designate and maintain a list of billing countries from which you do not allow transactions to originate. You may enable the Converge Global Billing Country Settings or add your own list of billing countries to block.
If you are using this filter and receive transactions from a billing country that is in your blocked list or a billing country was not provided, the transactions will be declined.
IMPORTANT NOTES: In order to use this filter you must submit the biling country via process.do or processxml.do with each transaction, thus you must edit your payment form settings to set the biling country field (ssl_country) as required.
By enabling the filter check box and selecting the Update button, you are activating the filter settings for your terminal immediately. The filter will be appled to all transactions received. You may modify, enable, or disable this filter at any time.
Billing Country Filter Settings
Enable Global Settings
The Converge Billing Country Filter is predetermined list of billing countries known for fraudulent advitties. There is no merchant-controlled configuration for this filter; management of this filter is handled exclusively by Elavon.
Enable Billing Country Settings
Please add a billing country or countries from which transaction requests are not allowed. You must add at least one billing country to enable this filter.
Countries to Accept Countries to Block
Afghanistan (AFG)
Algeria (DZA)
American Samoa (ASM) Andorra (AND)
Angola (AGO)
Anguilla (AIA) > Antarctica (ATA) <
Antarctica (ATA) Antigua and Barbuda (ATG)
Argentina (ARG)
Armenia (ARM)
Aruba (ABW) Australia (AUS)
Austria (AUT)
Azerbaijan (AZE)
Update Cancel

3. Select the Enable Global Settings check box, if desired.

A message displays to confirm activation.



4. Click OK.

**Note:** To disable activation, uncheck the **Enable Global Settings** check box. A message displays to confirm deactivation.

5. Click Update.

The filter settings for your terminal are immediately activated and the filter will be applied to all transactions received.

#### To Update the Billing Country Settings

1. Select Terminal | Advanced | Fraud Protection Rules.

The **Fraud Protection Rules** screen displays.

2. Click Billing Country Filter.

### The **Billing Country Filter** screen displays.

#### Billing Country Filter

This filter enables you to designate and maintain a list of billing countries from which you do not allow transactions to originate. You may enable the Converge Global Billing Country Settings or add your own list of billing countries to block.

If you are using this filter and receive transactions from a billing country that is in your blocked list or a billing country was not provided, the transactions will be declined.

#### IMPORTANT NOTES:

In order to use this fiter you must submit the biling country via process.do or processxml.do with each transaction, thus you must edit your payment form settings to set the biling country field (ssl\_country) as required.

By enabling the fiter check box and selecting the Update button, you are activating the fiter settings for your terminal immediately. The fiter will be appled to all transactions received. You may modify, enable, or disable this fiter at any time.

Billing Country Filter Setting	5		
Enable Global Settings			
The Converge Billing Country Fit fraudulent activities. There is no management of this filter is hand	merchant-controlled configura		
Enable Billing Country Setti	ngs		
Please add a billing country or c allowed. You must add at least o			re not
Countries to Accept		Count	tries to Block
Alghanistan (AFG) Albania (ALB) Algeria (DZA) American Samoa (ASM) Andorra (AND) Angola (AGO) Anguila (AIA) Antarctica (ATA) Antarctica (ATA) Antarctica (ATA) Artarctica (ARG) Armenia (ARG) Armenia (ARM) Auba (ABW) Austria (AUT) Austria (AUT) Azerbaijan (AZE)	4	A V	
	Update Cancel		

3. Select the Enable Billing Country Settings check box, if desired.

A message displays to confirm activation.

 Message from webpage
 X

 You have selected to enable this filter; the filter and its settings will be applied to your transactions once you dick on the update button. Do you want to proceed?

 OK
 Cancel

4. Click **OK**.

**Note:** To disable activation, uncheck the **Enable Billing Country Settings** check box. A message displays to confirm deactivation.

© Elavon, Incorporated 2015

5. Under **Countries to Accept**, click the name of the country or countries you wish to block and then click the arrow.

The selected country name moves over to the **Countries to Block** section. To reverse the action, click the name of the country and then click the sarrow.

6. Click Update.

The filter settings for your terminal are immediately activated and the filter will be applied to all transactions received.

# **To Update Shipping Country Settings**

The **Shipping Country Filter** screen enables you to designate and maintain a list of shipping countries from which you do not allow a transaction to be shipped to.

# To Update the Global Shipping Country Settings

1. Select Terminal | Advanced | Fraud Protection Rules.

The Fraud Protection Rules screen displays.

2. Click Shipping Country Filter.

## The Shipping Country Filter screen displays.

#### Shipping Country Filter

This filter enables you to designate and maintain a list of shipping countries from which you do not allow a transaction to be shipped to. You may enable the Converge Global Shipping Country Settings or add your own list of shipping countries to block.

If you are using this filter and receive transactions where the shipping country is in your blocked list or a shipping country was not provided, the transactions will be declined

#### IMPORTANT NOTES:

In order to use this filter you must submit the shipping country via process.do or process.ml.do with each transaction, thus you must edit your payment form settings to set the shipping country field (ssl\_ship\_to\_country) as required.

By enabling the fiter check box and selecting the Update button, you are activating the fiter settings for your terminal immediately. The fiter will be applied to all transactions received. You may modify, enable, or disable this fiter at any time.

Global Shipping Country Filter is predetermined list of shipping countries known for dulent activities. There is no merchant-controlled configuration for this filter; management of filter is handled exclusively by Elavon. Enable Shipping Country Settings isse add a shipping country or countries from which transaction requests are not allowed. must add at least shipping country to enable this filter.
ase add a shipping country or countries from which transaction requests are not allowed.
ntries to Accept tranistan (AFG) tranistan (AFG) teria (DZA) teria (DZA) teria (DZA) teria (AND) gola (AGO) guilla (AIA) tarctica (ATA) tigua and Barbuda (ATG) terina (ARG) menia (ARM) uba (ABW) stralia (AUS) stralia (AUS) teria (AZE)

3. Select the **Enable Global Settings** check box, if desired.

A message displays to confirm activation.



4. Click **OK**.

**Note:** To disable activation, uncheck the **Enable Global Settings** check box. A message displays to confirm deactivation.

## 5. Click Update.

The filter settings for your terminal are immediately activated and the filter will be applied to all transactions received.

### To Update the Shipping Country Settings

1. Select Terminal | Advanced | Fraud Protection Rules.

The Fraud Protection Rules screen displays.

### 2. Click Shipping Country Filter.

The Shipping Country Filter screen displays.

### Shipping Country Filter

This filter enables you to designate and maintain a list of shipping countries from which you do not allow a transaction to be shipped to. You may enable the Converge Global Shipping Country Settings or add your own list of shipping countries to block.

If you are using this filter and receive transactions where the shipping country is in your blocked list or a shipping country was not provided, the transactions will be declined

#### IMPORTANT NOTES:

In order to use this filter you must submit the shipping country via process.do or process.ml.do with each transaction, thus you must edit your payment form settings to set the shipping country field (ssl\_ship\_to\_country) as required.

By enabling the filter check box and selecting the Update button, you are activating the filter settings for your terminal immediately. The filter will be applied to all transactions received. You may modify, enable, or disable this filter at any time.

Tease add a shipping country or countries from which transaction requests are not allowed. To unust add at least shipping country to enable this filter. Countries to Accept Afgeniaistan (AFG) Algeria (DZA) Angola (ACD) Angola (AGO) Anguilla (AIA) Antarctica (ATA) Antarctica (ATA) Antegnia (ARG) Armenia (ARM)
Afghanistan (AFG) Albania (ALB) Algeria (DZA) American Samoa (ASM) Andorra (AND) Angola (AGO)
rou must add at least shipping country to enable this filter.
Australia (AUS) Austria (AUT) Azerbaijan (AZE)

3. Select the Enable Shipping Country Settings check box, if desired.

A message displays to confirm activation.



4. Click **OK**.

**Note:** To disable activation, uncheck the **Enable Shipping Country Settings** check box. A message displays to confirm deactivation.

5. Under **Countries to Accept**, click the name of the country or countries you wish to block and then click the arrow.

The selected country name moves over to the **Countries to Block** section. To reverse the action, click the name of the country and then click the  $\boxed{<}$  arrow.

6. Click Update.

The filter settings for your terminal are immediately activated and the filter will be applied to all transactions received.

# To Update IP Address & Billing Country Mismatch Settings

The **IP Address & Billing Country Mismatch Filter** screen allows you to manage the IP and billing country mismatch settings for your terminal. These settings enable you to designate and maintain a list of billing countries and compare the transaction's originating IP address with the billing country provided. This helps to determine whether or not the transaction is placed in the country in which it originated. You may enable the **Global IP Address & Billing Country Mismatch Settings** or add your own list of **IP Address & Billing Country Mismatch Settings**.

If you use this filter and receive transactions where the billing country does not match the IP address for those countries you have specified in the list, or a billing country and IP address were not provided, the transactions will be declined.

To block a country for the terminal, select a country from the box on the left and click the right pointing arrow to move the country to the box on the right. you can select countries without enabling the local setting for the terminal. however, users cannot enable the local setting until at least one country is in the **Countries to Block** box; an error message will be displayed when the user clicks the **Update** button.

Note: To use this filter you must submit the IP address along with the billing country with each transaction. Thus, you must edit your payment form settings to set the **Billing Country** field (ssl\_country) as required in the payment fields screen under the **Terminal** | **Merchant Payment Fields** menu option.

## To Update the Global IP Address & Billing Country Mismatch Settings

1. Select Terminal | Advanced | Fraud Protection Rules.

The Fraud Protection Rules screen displays.

2. Click IP Address & Billing Country Mismatch Filter.

### The IP Address & Billing Country Mismatch Filter screen displays.

IP Address & Billing Country Mismatch Filter	
This fiter enables you to designate and maintain a list of billing countries and compa billing country provided. This helps determine whether or not the transaction is plac the Converge Global IP & Billing Country Settings or add your own list of IP & Billing	ced in the country in which it originated. You may enable
If you are using this fitter and receive transactions where the biling country doesn't specified in the list, or a biling country and IP Address were not provided, the trans	
IMPORTANT NOTES: In order to use this filter you must submit the biling country and the cardholder IP processxml.do with each transaction, thus you must edit your payment form settin required.	
IP Address & Billing Country Mismatch Filter Settings  In Enable Global Settings The Global IP & Billing Address Mismatch Filter is predetermined list of billing countries known for fraudulent adivities. There is no merchant-controlled configuration for this filter; management of this filter is handled exclusively by Elavon.	
Enable IP & Billing Country Mismatch	
Please add a billing country or countries; we will verify if the country entered matches the transaction IP Address. You must add at least one billing country to enable this filter.	
Country List Countries to Verify Afghanistan (AFG) Albania (ALB) Algeria (DZA) American Samoa (ASM) Andorra (AND) Angola (AGO) Anguila (AIA) Antarctica (ATA) Antigue and Barbuda (ATG) Armenia (ARM) Aruba (ABW) Australia (AUS) Austria (AUT) Azerbaijan (AZE)	
Update Cancel	

3. Select the Enable Global Settings check box, if desired.

A message displays to confirm activation.



4. Click OK.

Note: To disable activation, uncheck the **Enable Global Settings** check box. A message displays to confirm deactivation.

5. Click Update.

The filter settings for your terminal are immediately activated and the filter will be applied to all transactions received.

## To Update IP Address & Billing Country Mismatch Settings

1. Select Terminal | Advanced | Fraud Protection Rules.

The Fraud Protection Rules screen displays.

2. Click IP Address & Billing Country Mismatch Filter.

## The IP Address & Billing Country Mismatch Filter screen displays.

IP Address & Billing Country Mismatch Filter		
This fitter enables you to designate and maintain a list of billing countries and compares the transaction's originating IP Address with the billing country provided. This helps determine whether or not the transaction is placed in the country in which it originated. You may enable the Converge Global IP & Billing Country Settings or add your own list of IP & Billing Country Mismatch Settings.		
If you are using this filter and receive transactions where the biling country doesn't match the IP Address for those countries you have specified in the list, or a biling country and IP Address were not provided, the transactions will be declined.		
IMPORTANT NOTES: In order to use this filter you must submit the biling country and the cardholder IP Address (ssl_cardholder_ip) via process.do or processxml.do with each transaction, thus you must edit your payment form settings to set the biling country field (ssl_country) as required.		
IP Address & Billing Country Mismatch Filter Settings		
Enable Global Settings		
The Global IP & Billing Address Mismatch Filter is predetermined list of billing countries known for fraudulent activities. There is no merchant-controlled configuration for this filter; management of this filter is handled exclusively by Elavon.		
Enable IP & Billing Country Mismatch		
Please add a billing country or countries; we will verify if the country entered matches the transaction IP Address. You must add at least one billing country to enable this filter.		
Country List Countries to Verify		
Afghanistan (AFG)         Albania (ALB)         Algeria (DZA)         American Samoa (ASM)         Andorra (AND)         Angola (AGO)         Anguilla (AIA)         Antarctica (ATA)         Antigua and Barbuda (ATG)         Aruba (ABW)         Anuda (ABW)         Australia (AUS)         Australia (AUS)         Austria (AUT)         Azerbaijan (AZE)		
Update Cancel		

3. Select the Enable IP & Billing Country Mismatch check box, if desired.

× Message from webpage You have selected to enable this filter; the filter and its settings will be applied to your transactions once you dick on the update button. Do you want to proceed? ОК Cancel

A message displays to confirm activation.

4. Click OK.

Note: To disable activation, uncheck the Enable IP & Billing Country Mismatch check box. A message displays to confirm deactivation.

Under **Country List**, click the name of the country or countries you wish to validate if the IP address matches and then the arrow.

The selected country name moves over to the **Countries to Verify** section. To reverse the action, click the name of the country and then the sarrow.

If you click >> all countries in the list move over to the **Countries to Verify** section. To reverse the action, click the name of the country and then <<.

6. Click Update.

The filter settings for your terminal are immediately activated and the filter will be applied to all transactions received.

# To Update IP Address & Shipping Country Mismatch Settings

The **IP & Shipping Country Mismatch Filter** screen allows you to manage the IP and shipping country mismatch settings for your terminal. These settings enable you to designate and maintain a list of shipping countries and compare the transaction's originating IP address with the shipping country provided. This helps to determine whether or not the transaction is placed in the country in which the order will be shipped to. You may enable the **Global IP & Shipping Country Mismatch Settings**.

If you use this filter and receive transactions where the shipping country does not match the IP address for those countries you have specified in the list, or a shipping country and IP address were not provided, the transactions will be declined.

To use this filter, an IP address value must be submitted with each transaction along with the shipping country ISO code. You must edit your payment form settings to set the **Shipping Country** field (ssl\_ship\_to\_country) as required in the payment fields screen under the **Terminal | Merchant | Payment Fields** menu option.

## To Update the Global IP & Shipping Country Mismatch Settings

1. Select Terminal | Advanced | Fraud Protection Rules.

The Fraud Protection Rules screen displays.

2. Click IP Address & Shipping Country Mismatch Filter.

# The IP Address & Shipping Country Mismatch Filter screen displays.

IP Address & Shipping Country Mismatch Filter	
This filter enables you to designate and maintain a list of shipping countries and compares the transaction's originating IP Address with the shipping country provided. This helps determine whether or not the transaction is placed in the country in which the order will be shipped to. You may enable the Converge Global IP & Shipping Country Settings or add your own list of IP & Shipping Country Mismatch Settings.	
If you are using this filter and receive transactions where the shipping country doesn't match the IP Address for those countries you have specified in the list or a shipping country and IP Address were not provided, the transactions will be declined.	
IMPORTANT NOTES: In order to use this filter you must submit the shipping country and the cardholder IP Address (ssl_cardholder_ip) via process.do or processxml.do with each transaction, thus you must edit your payment form settings to set the shipping country field (ssl_ship_to_country) as required.	
By enabling the filter check box and selecting the Update button, you are activating the filter settings for your terminal immediately. The filter will be applied to all transactions received. You may modify, enable, or disable this filter at any time.	
IP Address & Shipping Country Mismatch Filter Settings         Image: Country Stress         The Global Settings         The Global IP & Shipping Country Mismatch Filter is predetermined list of shipping countries known for fraudulent activities. There is no merchant-controlled configuration for this filter; management of this filter is handled exclusively by Elavon.         Image: Country Country Mismatch         Please add a shipping Country Mismatch         Please add a shipping country or countries; we will verify if the country entered matches the transaction IP Address. You must add at least one shipping country to enable this filter.         Country List       Countries to Verify         Afghanistan (AFG)       Image: Countries (ASM)         Andorra (NND)       Image: Country Address. You must add at least one shipping country to enable this filter.         Country List       Countries to Verify         Afghanistan (AFG)       Image: Countries (ASM)         Andorra (NND)       Image: Countries (ASM)         Andreica (ATA)       Image: Countries (ARG)         Armenia (ARG)       Image: Countries (ARG)         Armenia (ABW)       Image: Countries (ACB)         Austria (AUT)       Image: Countries (ACB)         Austria (AUT)       Image: Countries (ACB)         Austria (AUT)       Image: Countries (ACB)	
Update Cancel	

3. Select the **Enable Global Settings** check box, if desired.

A message displays to confirm activation.



4. Click **OK**.

**Note:** To disable activation, uncheck the **Enable Global Settings** check box. A message displays to confirm deactivation.

5. Click Update.

The filter settings for your terminal are immediately activated and the filter will be applied to all transactions received.

## To Update the IP & Shipping Country Mismatch Settings

1. Select Terminal | Advanced | Fraud Protection Rules.

The Fraud Protection Rules screen displays.

2. Click IP Address & Shipping Country Mismatch Filter.

The IP Address & Shipping Country Mismatch Filter screen displays.

IP Address & Shipping Country Mismatch Filter
This filter enables you to designate and maintain a list of shipping countries and compares the transaction's originating IP Address with the shipping country provided. This helps determine whether or not the transaction is placed in the country in which the order will be shipped to. You may enable the Converge Global IP & Shipping Country Settings or add your own list of IP & Shipping Country Mismatch Settings
If you are using this fitter and receive transactions where the shipping country doesn't match the IP Address for those countries you have specified in the list or a shipping country and IP Address were not provided, the transactions will be declined.
IMPORTANT NOTES: In order to use this filter you must submit the shipping country and the cardholder IP Address (ssl_cardholder_jp) via process.do or processxml.do with each transaction, thus you must edit your payment form settings to set the shipping country field (ssl_ship_to_country) as required.
By enabling the fiter check box and selecting the Update button, you are activating the fiter settings for your terminal immediately. The fiter will be applied to all transactions received. You may modify, enable, or disable this fiter at any time.
IP Address & Shipping Country Mismatch Filter Settings
🔳 Enable Global Settings
The Global IP & Shipping Country Mismatch Filter is predetermined list of shipping countries known for fraudulent activities. There is no merchant-controlled configuration for this filter; management of this filter is handled exclusively by Elavon.
Enable IP & Shipping Country Mismatch
Please add a shipping country or countries; we will verify if the country entered matches the transaction IP Address. You must add at least one shipping country to enable this filter.
Country List     Country List       Afghanistan (AFG)     Abania (ALB)       Algeria (DZA)     American Samoa (ASM)       Anderra (AND)     Angola (AGO)       Angola (AGO)     Angola (AGO)       Anguila (AIA)     Antarctica (ATA)       Antrautica (ATA)     Artanctica (ATA)       Armenia (ARM)     Aruba (ABW)       Austria (AUT)     Image: Country (AUT)       Austria (AUT)     Image: Country (AUT)
Update Cancel

3. Select the Enable IP Shipping Country Mismatch check box, if desired.

A message displays to confirm activation.



4. Click OK.

**Note:** To disable activation, uncheck the **Enable IP Shipping Country Mismatch** check box. A message displays to confirm deactivation.

Under Country List, click the name of the country or countries you wish to validate if the IP address matches and then click the arrow.

The selected country name moves over to the **Countries to Verify** section. To reverse the action, click the name of the country and then click the show.

If you click the >> arrows, all countries in the list move over to the **Countries to Verify** section. To reverse the action, click the << arrows.

6. Click Update.

The filter settings for your terminal are immediately activated and the filter will be applied to all transactions received.

# **To Update Email Address Settings**

The **Email Address Filter** screen allows you to manage the email address settings for your terminal. These settings enable you to designate and maintain a list of email addresses of cardholders from whom you do not accept transactions. You may enable the Converge **Global Email Address Settings** or add your own list of email addresses to block.

If you use this filter and receive transactions from an email address that is not in your allowed list, the transactions will be declined.

The **Email Address Filter** settings have a global setting and a local setting. The first checkbox enables/disables the global setting of the rule for the terminal. The second check box enables/disables the local setting of the rule for the terminal.

You can enter IP/email addresses without enabling the local setting of the rule for the terminal. You cannot enable the local setting until at least one IP/email address is entered; an error message will display when you clicks the **Update** button.

You can remove IP/email addresses without disabling the local setting of the rule; however if you remove all entries and click the **Update** button you will get an error message. When removing all entries, you will have to uncheck the local setting checkbox before clicking the **Update** button.

Note: To use this filter, an email address must be submitted with your transactions. Thus, you must edit your payment form settings to set the **Email Address** field (ssl\_email) as required in the payment fields screen under the **Terminal | Merchant | Payment Fields** menu option.

## The Email Address Filter screen displays:

## Email Address Filter

This filter enables you to designate and maintain a list of Email Addresses of cardholders from which you do not accept transactions. You may enable the Converge Global Email Address Settings or add your own list of Email Addresses to block.

If you are using this filter and receive transactions from an Email Address that is in your blocked list or an Email Address was not provided, the transactions will be declined.

#### IMPORTANT NOTES:

In order to use this filter you must submit the Email Address via process.do and processxml.do, you must edit your payment form settings to set the email field (ssl\_email) as required.

By enabling the filter check box and selecting the Update button, you are activating the filter settings for your terminal immediately. The filter will be applied to all transactions received. You may modify, enable, or disable this filter at any time.

Email Address Filter Settings	
Enable Global Settings	
The Converge Global Email Address Filter is predetermined list of Email addresses known for fraudulent activities. There is no merchant-controlled configuration for this filter, management of this filter is handled exclusively by Elavon.	
📕 Enable Email Address Settings	
Please add Email Addresses from which transaction requests are not allowed. You must add at least one Email Address to enable this filter.	
Add	
Display: 25 💌	
no entries No items in list	
Update Cancel	

#### To Update the Global Email Address Settings

1. Select Terminal | Advanced | Fraud Protection Rules.

The Fraud Protection Rules screen displays.

2. Click Email Address Filter.

The Email Address Filter screen displays.

3. Select the Enable Global Settings check box.

A message displays to confirm activation.



4. Click OK.

**Note:** To disable activation, uncheck the **Enable Global Settings** check box. A message displays to confirm deactivation.

5. Click Update.

The filter settings for your terminal are immediately activated and the filter will be applied to all transactions received.

## To Add an Email Address

1. Select Terminal | Advanced | Fraud Protection Rules.

The Fraud Protection Rules screen displays.

2. Click Email Address Filter.

The Email Address Filter screen displays.

3. Select the Enable Email Address Settings check box.

A message displays to confirm activation.



4. Click OK.

**Note:** To disable activation, uncheck the **Enable Email Address Settings** check box. A message displays to confirm deactivation.

- 5. In the text box provided, enter an email address from which transaction requests are not allowed.
- 6. Click Add.

The newly added email address displays.

7. To add another email address, repeat steps 5 to 6.

# 8. Click Update.

The filter settings for your terminal are immediately activated and the filter will be applied to all transactions received.

## To Remove an Email Address

1. Click **Remove** next to the email address you wish to remove.

A message displays to confirm removal.



2. Click OK.

## **To Update Card Number Settings**

The **Card Number Filter** screen allows you to manage the card number settings for your terminal. These settings enable you to designate and maintain a list card numbers of cardholders from whom you do not accept transactions. You may enable the Converge **Global Card Number Settings** or add your own list of card numbers to block.

The **Card Number Filter** settings have a global setting and a local setting. The first checkbox enables/disables the global setting of the rule for the terminal. The second check box enables/disables the local setting of the rule for the terminal.

You can enter IP/email addresses without enabling the local setting of the rule for the terminal. You cannot enable the local setting until at least one IP/email address is entered; an error message will display when you click the **Update** button.

You can remove IP/email addresses without disabling the local setting of the rule; however if you remove all entries and click the **Update** button you will get an error message. When removing all entries, you will have to uncheck the local setting checkbox before clicking the **Update** button.

If you use this filter and receive transactions from card number that is in your blocked list, the transactions will be declined.

## The Card Number Filter screen displays:

Card Number Filter	
This filter enables you to designate and maintain a list of card numbers of cardholders from which you do not accept transactions. You may enable the Converge Global Card Number Settings or add your own list of card numbers to block.	
If you are using this filter and receive transactions from card number that is in your blocked list, the transactions will be declined.	
IMPORTANT NOTE: By enabling the filter check box and selecting the Update button, you are activating the filter settings for your terminal immediately. The filter will be appled to all transactions received. You may modify, enable, or disable this filter at any time.	
Card Number Filter Settings	
Enable Global Settings	
The Converge Global Card Number Filter is predetermined list of card numbers known for fraudulent activities. There is no merchant-controlled configuration for this filter; management of this filter is handled exclusively by Elavon.	
Enable Card Number Settings	
Please add card numbers from which transaction requests are not allowed. You must add at least one card number to enable this filter.	
bbA	
Display: 25	
1 Zem 1 411111 Remove	
Update	

## To Update the Global Card Number Filters Settings

1. Select Terminal | Advanced | Fraud Protection Rules.

The Fraud Protection Rules screen displays.

2. Click Card Number Filter.

The Card Number Filter screen displays.

3. Select the Enable Global Settings check box.

A message displays to confirm activation.



4. Click OK.

**Note:** To disable activation, uncheck the **Enable Global Settings** check box. A message displays to confirm deactivation.

5. Click Update.

The filter settings for your terminal are immediately activated and the filter will be applied to all transactions received.

# To Add a Card Number

1. Select Terminal | Advanced | Fraud Protection Rules.

The Fraud Protection Rules screen displays.

2. Click Card Number Filter.

The Card Number Filter screen displays.

3. Select the Enable Card Numbers Settings check box.

A message displays to confirm activation.



4. Click OK.

**Note:** To disable activation, uncheck the **Enable Card Numbers Settings** check box. A message displays to confirm deactivation.

- 5. In the text box provided, enter a card number from which transaction requests are not allowed.
- 6. Click Add.

The newly added card number displays.

7. To add another email address, repeat steps 5 to 6.

# 8. Click **Update**.

The filter settings for your terminal are immediately activated and the filter will be applied to all transactions received.

## To Remove a Card Number

1. Click **Remove** next to the card number you wish to remove.

A message displays to confirm removal.

Message from webpage	×
You are about to remove 00********0000	
OK Cancel	

2. Click **OK**.

## To Update Transaction Velocity Filter Settings

This filter lets you specify a threshold for the number of transactions allowed, all transactions received that exceed the threshold will be declined.

This rule only has a local setting; there is no global setting. The **Transaction Velocity Filter** rule includes three individual rules for the terminal:

- Number of transactions allowed per day (1440 minutes)
- Number of transactions allowed per hour (60 minutes)
- Number of transactions allowed from the same IP Address per hour (60 minutes)

An error message is displayed when:

- You check the **Enable Daily Velocity Settings** check box and click **Update** without providing the number of transactions allowed per day.
- The user checks the **Enable Hourly Velocity Settings** check box and clicks **Update** without providing the number of transaction allowed per hour.
- The user checks the **Enable IP Hourly Velocity Settings** check box and clicks **Update** without providing the number of transactions per hour.

You can enter the number of transactions allowed per day or per hour without having to check the associated **Enable** check box.

Users can uncheck the **Enable** check boxes without having to remove the number of transactions allowed per day or per hour.

#### The Transaction Velocity Filter screen displays:

Transaction Velocity Filter
This filter allows you to specify a threshold for the number of transactions allowed hourly, daily or from the same IP Address per hour, all transactions received exceeding the threshold will be declined. To setup a velocity filter that meets your processing needs, you should monitor your processing trends to help you determine your typical volume.
IMPORTANT NOTES: In order to use the IP Hourly Velocity fiter you must submit the cardholder IP Address (ssl_cardholder_ip) with each transaction.
By enabling the filter check box and selecting the Update button, you are activating the filter settings for your terminal immediately. The filter will be applied to all transactions received. You may modify, enable, or disable this filter at any time.
Transaction Velocity Filter Settings
Enable Daily Velocity Settings      Please specify the maximum number of transactions allowed per day. (1 - 999999)      Allow 1 transactions per DAY
Enable Hourly Velocity Settings  Please specify the maximum number of transactions allowed per hour. (1 - 9999)  Allow transactions per HOUR
Enable IP Hourly Velocity Settings     Please specify the maximum number of transactions allowed from the same IP address per hour. (1 - 99)     Allow transactions from the same IP address per HOUR
Update Cancel

#### To Specify Daily Velocity Settings:

 To specify the maximum number of transactions you want to allow per day, enter a number between 1 and 9,999 in the Allow\_\_\_transactions per Day in the Enable Daily Velocity Settings portion of the screen and click the check box. The following message will appear.



Click **OK** and the filtering you have specified will be in effect.

 To specify the maximum number of transactions you want to allow per day, enter a number between 1 and 999,999 in the Allow\_\_\_\_transactions per Hour in the Enable Hourly Velocity Settings portion of the screen and click the check box. The following message will appear.



Click **OK** and the filtering you have specified will be in effect.

3. To specify the maximum number of transactions you want to allow per hour from the same IP address, enter a number between 1 and 9,999 in the Allow\_\_\_transactions from the same IP address per hour in the Enable IP Hourly Velocity Settings portion of the screen and click the check box. The following message will appear.

Message	from webpage	×
If this rule is enabled for a terminal, transactions sent through Converge Integration must have a cardholder IP address or the transaction will be declined. Do you want to proceed?		
	OK Cancel	

Click **OK** and the filtering you have specified will be in effect.

4. Once you have made your selection, click the **Update** button. A message will display that your fraud value successfully updated.

Fraud value successfully updated.	
Transaction Velocity Filter Settings	
Enable Daily Velocity Settings	
Please specify the maximum number of transactions allowed per day. (1 - 999999)	
Allow 1 transactions per DAY	
Enable Hourly Velocity Settings     Please specify the maximum number of transactions allowed per hour. (1 - 9999)     Allow 1 transactions per HOUR	
Enable IP Hourly Velocity Settings Please specify the maximum number of transactions allowed from the same IP address per hour. (1 - 99)	
Allow 1 transactions from the same IP address per HOUR	
Update Cancel	

#### **To Update Email Domain Settings**

The **Email Domain Filter** screen allows you to manage the email domain settings for your terminal. These settings enable you to validate that the email address entered by cardholders on transactions has a valid domain.

If you are using this filter and receive transactions from an email address with an invalid domain or an email address is not provided, an error will be returned.

**Note:** To use this filter, an email address must be submitted with your transactions. Thus, you must edit your payment form settings to set the email address field (ssl\_email) as required in the payment fields screen under the **Terminal | Merchant | Payment Fields** menu option.

Email Domain Filter
This filter allows you to validate that the Email address entered by cardholders contains a valid domain.
If you are using this filter and receive transactions from an Email Address with an invalid domain or an Email Address is not provided, an error will be returned.
IMPORTANT NOTES: In order to use this filter you must submit the Email Address via process.do and processxml.do, you must edit your payment form settings to set the email field (ssl_email) as required.
By enabling the filter check box and selecting the Update button, you are activating the filter settings for your terminal immediately. The filter will be appled to all transactions received. You may enable or disable this filter at any time.
Email Domain Filter Settings  Enable Email Domain Filter Settings Update Cancel

1. Select Terminal | Advanced | Fraud Protection Rules.

The Fraud Protection Rules screen displays.

2. Click Email Domain Filter.

The Email Domain Filter screen displays.

3. Select the Enable Email Domain Settings check box.

A message displays to confirm activation.



4. Click OK.

**Note:** To disable activation, uncheck the **Enable Email Domain Settings** check box. A message displays to confirm deactivation.

5. Click Update.

The filter settings for your terminal are immediately activated and the filter will be applied to all transactions received.

### **To Update Transaction Timeout Settings**

The **Transaction Timeout Filter** screen allows you to manage the transaction timeout settings for your terminal. These settings enable you to specify a time limit (between 1 and 15 minutes), for a single transaction. If you use this filter and the transaction exceeds the time allowed for processing, it will be declined.

Transaction Timeout Filter	
This filter enables you to specify a time limit, betwee for processing, it wil be declined.	n 1 and 15 minutes; for a single transaction. If the transaction exceeds the time allowed
IMPORTANT NOTES: By enabling the fiter check box and selecting the Up fiter will be appled to all transactions received. You	odate button, you are activating the fiter settings for your terminal immediately. The may modify, enable, or disable this fiter at any time.
Transaction Timeout Filter Settings  Enable Transaction Timeout Settings minutes Update Cancel	

1. Select Terminal | Advanced | Fraud Protection Rules.

The Fraud Protection Rules screen displays.

2. Click Transaction Timeout Filter.

The Transaction Timeout Filter screen displays.

- 3. Enter time limit in minutes.
- 4. Select the Enable Transaction Timeout Settings check box.

A message displays to confirm activation.



5. Click OK.

**Note:** To disable activation, uncheck the **Enable Transaction Timeout Settings** check box. A message displays to confirm deactivation.

6. Click Update.

The filter settings for your terminal are immediately activated and the filter will be applied to all transactions received.

# **Setting Up Business Rules**

The **Business Rules** screen lets you create your own processing business rules. These rules can be added, updated and deleted:

- Only merchant administrators can set system-level rules. These rules cannot be added, updated or deleted by standard users.
- Business rules are set up within a specific terminal and apply only to transactions that are processed through that terminal.
- Business rules can only be set up in terminals that are set up as Terminal-Based.
- Converge will only apply business rules (other than those that check for duplicate transactions) to credit card transactions.
- All business rules are optional and apply only to transactions submitted to the application through process.do and processxml.do, for all market segments.
- **Pre-Processing** and **Post-Processing** rules currently do not apply when transactions are processed in the Virtual terminal, including duplicate checking.
- Business rules run in order, from top to bottom. You can change the order of the rules using the arrow buttons next to each rule. No more than a combined total of 10 Pre-Processing and Post-Processing rules can be added to a terminal at a time.
- Once a rule is triggered, no other rules will operate.
- Actions set up in a rule cannot be performed unless that specific rule is triggered.

- Return rules do not affect other transaction rules.
- Transactions that are set to Decline using business rules will display in the Current Batches Error section with the reason for decline set to the Comparison Value from the rule that was triggered (for example: Ship to Postal Code, Bill to Postal Code, Tran Amount, Return Amount, AVS Response, or CVV2 Response).
- Reversals will be submitted for credit card transactions that were authorized by the issuer but have been declined based on the AVS or CVV rules.

Transactions that are **Set to Review** or **Pend** will display in the **Current Batches Main** or **Auth Only** sections. You can **Unpend** or **Release** those transactions prior to settlement.

### To Add New Business Rules

1. Select Terminal | Advanced | Business Rules.

Terminal	
The <b>Advance Setup</b> function allows you to set up the System and Error Messages.	
<ul> <li>Advanced</li> </ul>	
<ul> <li>System Setup</li> </ul>	
Error Messages	
Fraud Prevention Rules	
Business Rules	

The **Business Rules** screen displays.

Business Rules		
This form is used to setup processing rules.		
Pre-Processing Rules		
Rule Name Type Fields Operator Criteria True Action False Action Email		
Add New Rule		
Post-Processing Rules		
Rule Name Type Fields Operator Criteria True Action False Action Email		
Add New Rule		
2. Based on your requirements, under **Pre-Processing Rules** or **Post-Processing Rules**, click **Add New Rule**.

New Ru	New Rule						
Add a new bu	siness rule.						
New Rule							
Add New Rul	e						
Rule Name							
Value							
Operator	<u> </u>						
Criteria	<ul> <li>or Value</li> </ul>						
True Action	or Rule						
False Action	or Rule						
Send Email	<b>v</b>						
	Add New Rule Cancel						

The New Rule screen displays.

- 3. Enter the name of the new business rule in the **Rule Name** field.
- 4. In the **Value** drop-down list, select the field to use as a comparison value for the rule from the following options:
  - Ship To Postal Code
  - Bill To Postal Code
  - Tran Amount
  - Return Amount
  - Duplicate Transaction
- 5. In the **Operator** drop-down list, select the comparison operator from the following:
  - Equal To
  - Not Equal To
  - Greater Than
  - Greater Than
  - Less Than

- Less Than Equal To
- Not in Set
- 6. In the **Criteria** drop-down list, select the criteria to use for comparison from the following:
  - Ship To Postal Code
  - Bill To Postal Code
  - Time Period
  - Invoice Number
- 7. Enter an **Or Value** as a second value or value set for comparison with the transaction, return amount, AVS response, or CVV2 response.
  - If there is more than one value, separate each value with a comma and use the **Operator** value **Not in Set**.
  - Refer to the **AVS Response Codes** and **CVV2 Response Codes** sections in the **Response Codes** chapter in the *Converge Transaction Processing Guide* for a complete list of AVS and CVV response codes.
- 8. Select an action from the **True Action** drop-down list. This is the action that takes place when the criteria comparison is determined to be true.

The **Or Rule** field is populated by existing business rules. The **Or Rule** can be selected instead of the **True Action**.

New Rule						
Add a new bu	siness rule.					
New Rule						
Add New Rul	e					
Rule Name	BillZipRule					
Value	Bill To Postal Code	•				
Operator	Not Equal To					
Criteria	Ship To Postal Code	•				
True Action	•	or Rule				
False Action	•	or Rule MatchZip				
Send Email	Send Terminal Email					
	Add New Rule	Cancel				

9. Select an action from the **False Action** drop-down list. This is the action that takes place when the criteria comparison is determined to be false.

The **Or Rule** field is populated by existing business rules that have been created. This **Or Rule** can be selected instead of the **False Action**.

- 10. In the **Send Email** drop-down list, select an email action to specify an email action, depending on the rule comparison, from the following:
  - Send Merchant Email
  - Send Terminal Email
  - Send SMS Email
- 11. Once you have entered the information for the new rule, click **Add New Rule** to save the rule. A screen message indicates the rule added successfully. The new rule displays in the **Processing Rules** table.

Bu	isine	ss R	ules									
This	form is	used to	o setup pro	cessing rules.								
Mate	chZip - P	Rule Add	ed success	ully.								
Pr	e-Proce	essing R	tules									
	Rule	e Name	Туре	Fields		Operator	Criteria		True Action	False Action	Email	
	▼ Mat	chZip	Merchant	Bill To Postal (	Code	Equal To	Ship To P	ostal Code		Decline	Send N	ferchant Email
	Add Ne	w Rule										
Po	st-Proc	essing l	Rules									
	Rule N	ame	Туре	Fields	Ope	rator	Criteria	True	Action	False Actio	n	Email
	Add Ne	w Rule										

# **To Edit Business Rules**

Business Rules can be edited by those that have the correct user rights.

1. To edit an existing rule, select the rule name from the **Pre-Processing Rules** table.

Business R	ules						
This form is used to	o setup pro	cessing rules.					
MatchZip - Rule Add	led success	fully.					
Pre-Processing R	Rules						
Rule Name	Туре	Fields	Operator	Criteria	True Action	False Action	Email
▲ ♥ (MatchZip)	Merchant	Bill To Postal Cod	Equal To	Ship To Postal (	Code	Decline	Send Merchant Email
Add New Rule							
Post-Processing	Rules						
Rule Name	Туре	Fields O	perator	Criteria	True Action	False Actio	on Email
Add New Rule							

2. On the **Update Rule** screen, enter or adjust the fields as necessary.

Update Rule						
Change the Parameters of an existing business rule.						
Update Busi	ness Rule					
Update						
Rule Name	MatchZip					
Value	Bill To Postal Code					
Operator	Equal To					
Criteria	Ship To Postal Code 💌					
True Action	or Rule					
False Action	Decline  or Rule					
Send Email	Send Merchant Email					
l	Jpdate Delete Cancel					

3. To update the business rule, click **Update**.

The business rule updated successfully message displays.

E	Bu	si	ness R	ules								
т	'ns	for	m is used to	o setup pro	ocessing rules.							
0	-	_	<mark>p - Rule Upd</mark> rocessing R		ssfully.	_	_			_	_	
l		_	Rule Name		Fields	Operator	Criteria	To	ue Action	False Action	Email	
	▲	V	MatchZip	Merchant	Bill To Postal Cod	e Not Equal To	Ship To Postal O	Code D	ecline		Send Mer	chant Email
	1	Add	d New Rule									
1	Pos	st-P	Processing I	Rules								
		R	ule Name	Туре	Fields	Operator	Criteria T	irue Actio	an i	False Action	1	Email
		Add	d New Rule									

#### **To Delete Business Rules**

- 1. To delete an existing rule, select the rule name from the **Pre-Processing Rules** table.
- 2. On the **Update Rule** screen, click **Delete**.

The business rule deleted successfully message displays.

Business Rules
This form is used to setup processing rules.
MatchZip - Rule Deleted successfully.
Pre-Processing Rules
Rule Name Type Fields Operator Criteria True Action False Action Email
Add New Rule
Post-Processing Rules
Rule Name Type Fields Operator Criteria True Action False Action Email
Add New Rule

# **Additional Resource Guides**

By now an Administrator is able to:

- Configure and manage users
- Configure and manage account settings
- Configure the terminal and payment fields

Your Virtual Terminal is now ready to process transactions. For additional information on how to use your Virtual Terminal for processing transactions refer to the *Converge Transaction Processing Guide*.

For additional information regarding the integration of your Virtual Terminal refer to the *Converge Developer Guide*.

# Glossary

# Α

- Account Balance (Response screen field) Displays the account balance.
- Approval Code (Response screen field)
   Displays the 6-digit approval number received upon successful authorization.
- Address Verification Service (AVS)

Compares the billing address submitted by the customer for the transaction with the address on file for the cardholder at the card issuing bank. To implement AVS, you must collect the customer's billing address and ZIP code.

# • AVS Code

A code returned to a merchant by a credit card issuing bank referencing the results of an AVS match.

#### • AVS Response Code (Response screen field)

Displays the address verification response for this transaction.

# В

# • Batches-Edit Transactions (user right)

Allows access to the Batches-Edit Transaction option.

#### • Batches-Return Transactions (user right)

Allows access to initiate a return from a Settled Credit Card Transaction in the Settled Batches menu.

#### • Batches-Settle Transactions (user right)

Allows access to the Settle button in the Current Batches section to settle selected transactions.

# • Batches-View (user right)

Allows a user to view the unsettled transactions in the Current Batches section.

# • Batches-View Settled History (user right)

Allows access to the Settled Batches section.

# • Batches-Void Delete (user right)

Allows access to the Void and Delete buttons in Current Batches section. Void applies to both Host and Terminal-based. Delete applies to Terminal-based only. Converge does not permit batches to be voided while the auto-settle process is running, or when a manual settlement process is running.

# • Bi-Monthly

Transactions with a billing cycle of bi-monthly, Converge sends the transactions to Stratus for authorization every other month starting on the transactions' Start Payment Date.

#### Bi-Weekly

Transactions with a billing cycle of bi-weekly, Converge sends the transactions to Stratus for authorization every 2 weeks (every 14 days) starting on the transactions' Start Payment Date.

# С

# • CID

Credit card security code for American Express®.

• CVC2

Credit card security code for MasterCard®.

• CVV2

Credit card security code for Visa®.

# • Card Code Verification (CCV)

This feature compares the card code submitted by the customer for the transaction with the card code on file for the cardholder at the card issuing bank. Filter settings in the Merchant Interface allow you to reject transactions based on the CCV response received.

#### • Card Not Present (CNP)

A cardholder's credit card is not physically presented to a merchant at the time of the transaction. This term is used to differentiate between e-Commerce/Internet merchants, such as those that operate through Web sites or from mail order/telephone order locations from retail merchants.

#### • Card Present (CP)

Card present transactions are those in which a credit card is physically present, such as retail merchants, because the card is available for inspection. Those transactions are considered less risky and therefore carry lower fees than online or phone transactions.

# • Card Verification Value (CVV) Code

CVV is one of the credit card industry's several acronyms for the credit card security code that helps to verify the legitimacy of a credit card. Depending on the card, the security code can be a three-digit or four-digit number, printed either on the back of the card or the front. Other card issuers call their security codes CVV2 (Visa®), CVC2 (MasterCard®) or CID (American Express®).

#### • CVV2 Response Code (Response screen field)

Displays the CVV2, CVC2 or CID response for this transaction.

# Cashback

The amount of cash consumers can receive when they use Debit cards. This amount is added to the total purchase amount.

# Cash Benefit Inquiry Transaction

Allows you to get the current balance of a Cash Benefit card. This transaction requires a PIN pad and must be swiped.

# • Cash Benefit-Inquiry (user right)

Allows access to process Cash Benefit-Inquiry transactions.

# Cash Benefit Purchase Transaction

Allows you to process cash benefit cards and receive cash back similar to debit transactions. This type of transaction requires the use of a PIN pad and can be swiped or manually entered.

• Cash Benefit-Purchase (user right)

Allows access to process Cash Benefit-Purchase transactions.

# • Create Subordinates (user right)

Allows access to the Create User section.

#### • Credit Card Auth Only Transaction

Allows you to pre-approve transactions that will be forced through or converted to sale at a later date.

# • Credit Card-Auth Only (user right)

Allows access to process Credit Card-Auth Only transactions.

# • Credit Card AVS Only/Verification Transaction

Allows you to verify if the address given for the transaction matches that of the cardholder for an AVS Only transaction. A Verification transaction verifies if the address and the CVV value given matches the cardholder's information.

# • Credit Card- AVS Only/Verification (user right)

Allows access to process Credit Card AVS Only transactions in which an address match is checked or Verification transactions in which an address and CVV value are checked for a match.

# • Credit Card Force Transaction

Forces sale transactions when the approval code was previously obtained, such as through voice authorization. This transaction type requires the Approval Code to be manually entered for processing. The Approval Code is a required field for this transaction.

#### • Credit Card-Force (user right)

Allows access to process Credit Card-Force transactions.

# • Credit Card Inquiry Transaction

Allows you to check the balance on pre-paid Visa® or MasterCard® gift cards.

# • Credit Card-Inquiry (user right)

Allows access to process Credit Card-Inquiry transactions.

#### Credit Card Installment Transaction

Allows you to set up payment amounts, the number of payments and the billing cycle in which the payments occur.

#### • Credit Card-Installment (user right)

Allows access to add Credit Card-Installment transactions.

#### • Credit Card Multi-entry Transaction

Allows you to enter multiple credit card transactions from one screen.

• Credit Card-Multi-entry (user right) Allows access to process Credit Card-Multi-entry transactions.

#### • Credit Card Recurring Transaction

Allows you to set up payment amounts and billing cycles in which the payments occur.

#### • Credit Card-Recurring (user right)

Allows access to add Credit Card-Recurring transactions.

#### Credit Card Return

Allows you to enter refund transactions for previous sales.

# Credit Card-Return (user right)

Allows access to process Credit Card-Return transactions.

#### • Credit Card Sale

Allows you to obtain real-time authorization for credit card sale transactions.

#### • Credit Card-Sale (user right)

Allows access to process Credit Card-Sale transactions.

# • Credit Card-Unencrypted Hand Key (user right)

Allows access to process hand keyed transactions outside of an encrypting device for those terminals that are setup with a device for all supported hand key transactions.

D

# • Date/Time (Response screen field)

Displays the date and time at which the transaction took place. The time stamp displayed is based on the time zone that is selected in your terminal profile.

#### • Debit Card Purchase Transaction

Allows you to get real-time authorizations for Debit Card sale transactions.

# • Debit Card-Purchase (user right)

Allows access to process Debit Card-Purchase transactions.

- **Debit Card Return Transaction** Allows you to enter refund transactions for previous sales.
- Debit Card-Return (user right) Allows access to process Debit Card-Return transactions.
- Debit Card Inquiry Transaction

Allows you to get account balances for debit cards.

- **Debit Card-Inquiry (user right)** Allows access to process Debit Card-Inquiry transactions.
- Dynamic DBA

This gives the merchant the ability to control the descriptor on their customer's credit card statements.

# Ε

• Edit Business Rule (user right)

Allows access to the Business Rule section.

- Edit Terminal Associations (user right) Allows access to Terminal Associations section.
- Edit Terminal Setup (user right) Allows access to the Terminal Setup section.
- Edit User Rights (user right) Allows access to the Edit Rights section under the Find/Edit User section.
- Electronic Check Conversion Only Transaction Allows you to enter an ECS purchase transaction for a Conversion Only process.
- Electronic Check Guarantee Transaction Allows you to enter an ECS purchase transaction for a Guarantee process.
- Electronic Check Multientry Conversion Only Transaction Allows you to enter multiple ECS purchase transactions for Conversion Only processes.
- Electronic Check Multientry -Guarantee Transaction Allows you to enter multiple ECS purchase transactions for a Guarantee process.
- Electronic Check Verification Transaction Allows you to enter an ECS Purchase transaction for a Verification process.

#### • Electronic Check Multientry Verification Transaction

Allows you to enter multiple ECS purchase transactions for a Verification process.

#### • Electronic Check-Multientry (user right)

Allows access to process Electronic Check-Multientry transactions.

#### • Electronic Check-Purchase (user right)

Allows access to process Electronic Check-Purchase transactions.

#### • EMV Processing

Europay, MasterCard, and Visa (EMV) is a global standard for credit and debit cards that's based on chip card technology. EMV cards, which are also referred to as Chip and PIN cards or Smartcards, are manufactured with an embedded microchip that offer strong security features and other capabilities not available on a magnetic strip card.

#### • Export Scripts

Export scripts allow merchants to request the results of their payment transactions be returned to their web sites for inventory purposes, sales analysis, or customer database maintenance.

# F

#### • Find/Edit User (user right)

Allows access to the Find/Edit User section.

#### Food Stamp Force Purchase Transaction

Allows you to manually enter Food Stamp "Voucher Clear" Purchase transactions. This transaction requires a 15-digit Voucher Clear Number from Merchant's EBT Food Stamp sales slip and the Voucher Clear Approval Code obtained previously by phone. The PIN number is not prompted for on the Voucher Clear transactions.

#### • Food Stamp-Force Purchase (user right)

Allows access to process Food Stamp-Force Purchase transactions.

#### • Food Stamp Force Return Transaction

Allows you manually enter Food Stamp "Voucher Clear" Return transactions. This transaction requires a 15-digit Voucher Clear Number from Merchant's EBT Food Stamp sales slip and the Voucher Clear Approval Code obtained previously by phone. The PIN number is not prompted for on the Voucher Clear transactions.

#### • Food Stamp-Force Return (user right)

Allows access to process Food Stamp-Force Return transactions.

#### • Food Stamp Inquiry Transaction

Allows you to get the current balances of food stamp cards.

#### • Food Stamp-Inquiry (user right)

Allows access to process Food Stamp-Force Inquiry.

#### • Food Stamp Purchase Transaction

Allows you to obtain an authorization on an EBT card.

- Food Stamp-Purchase (user right) Allows access to process Food Stamp- Purchase transactions.
- Food Stamp Return Transaction
   Allows you to credit money back onto the EBT card.
- Food Stamp-Return (user right) Allows access to process Food Stamp-Return transactions.

# G

- Gift Card Activation Transaction Allows you to enter gift card activation transactions.
- **Gift Card-Activation (user right)** Allows access to process Gift Card-Activation transactions.
- Gift Card-Card Return Transaction
   Allows you to refund the balances on gift card account.
- Gift Card-Card Return (user right) Allows access to process Gift Card-Return transactions.
- **Gift Card Credit Transaction** Allows you to refund previous redemption transactions to gift card accounts.
- Gift Card-Credit (user right) Allows access to process Gift Card-Credit transactions.
- Gift Card Inquiry Transaction
   Allows you to check the current balances of gift card accounts.
- **Gift Card-Inquiry (user right)** Allows access to process Gift Card-Inquiry transactions.
- Gift Card Redemption Transaction
   Used to make purchases with the balances on gift card accounts.
- Gift Card-Redemption (user right)

Allows access to process Gift Card-Redemption transactions.

# • Gift Card Reload Transaction

Allows you to increase the current balance of gift card accounts.

# • Gift Card-Reload (user right)

Allows access to process Gift Card-Reload transactions.

# 

# • Installment Billing

Used to pay off a known amount over a specific period of time.

# • IP Address

An Internet Protocol address (IP address) is a numerical label assigned to each device (e.g., computer, printer) participating in a computer network that uses the Internet Protocol for communication. IP addresses consist of four numbers separated by periods (also called a 'dotted-quad') and look something like 127.0.0.1.

#### • IP Address – Public

Every device connected to the public Internet is assigned a unique number known as an IP address.

#### • IP Limitations Rights (user right)

Allows a user to enter up to fifty (50) IP addresses that can access an account in Converge. If selected, only users logging in from the IP addresses that were entered can access the account.

**Note:** IP Limitation only applies to Login.do only; IP limitation feature does not apply to Process.do and Processxml.do

# Μ

# • Magnetic Stripe Reader (MSR)

A hardware device that reads the information encoded in the magnetic stripe located on the back of a plastic card.

#### • Message (Response screen field)

Contains the 16-character authorization response message.

# Ρ

# • Partial Approvals

When a Pre-Paid authorization is initiated, the issuer can respond with an approval amount less than the requested amount. Merchants can obtain the remainder of the purchase amount in another form of payment.

#### • Partial Auth Capability

The application is capable of submitting one amount for authorization understanding that only part of the requested amount could be approved. For example: \$100.00 purchase where \$75.00 is approved on a card. The balance of \$25.00 is understood to be still outstanding to complete the purchase.

# • Payment Type (Response screen field)

Displays the form of payment taken for the transaction.

• Pop-up

Small Internet browser window that appear on top of the Web site you are viewing.

# • Pop-up Blocker

A feature in your Internet browser that allows you to limit or block most pop-ups.

#### Public IP Address

An Internet Protocol address (IP address) is a numerical label assigned to each device (e.g., computer, printer) participating in a computer network that uses the Internet Protocol for communication

Every device connected to the public Internet is assigned a unique number known as an Internet Protocol (IP) address. IP addresses consist of four numbers separated by periods (also called a 'dotted-quad') and look something like 127.0.0.1.

# Q

# Quarterly

Transactions with a billing cycle of quarterly, Converge sends the transactions to Stratus for authorization every three months starting on the transactions' Start Payment Date.

# R

# • Record Number(Response screen field)

Displays the transaction record number in the terminal. This value is only displayed if the profile is configured for Host-Based Processing.

# • Recurring Billing

Consists of the same transaction amount repeated for an indefinite length of time.

#### Response (Response screen field)

Contains the 2-character authorization response code.

#### Reversals

A real-time transaction used to cancel an open authorization and restore the cardholders open to buy for the full amount previously authorized. This transaction is usually initiated when the cardholders decide that they do not want to proceed with the transactions. Reversals will free up cardholders' open to buy amounts by reducing issuer holds on available balances when transactions are not completed, therefore reducing declines at the point of sale and the amount of cardholder complaints.

# S

# • Semi-Annually

Transactions with a billing cycle of semi-annually, Converge sends the transactions to Stratus for authorization every six months starting on the transactions' Start Payment Date.

# • Semi-Monthly

Transactions with a billing cycle of semi-monthly, Converge sends the transactions to Stratus for authorization every other month starting on the transactions' Start Payment Date.

# • Semester

Transactions with a billing cycle of semester, Converge sends the transactions to Stratus for authorization every four months starting on the transactions' Start Payment Date.

# • Surcharge

This value may be set by the merchant to automatically charge a consumer for processing Debit Cards.

# Т

# • Transaction ID (Response screen field)

Displays the unique Converge record ID for the transaction.

# • Transaction Type (Response screen field)

Displays the transaction type for the currently selected transaction.

# U

# • User (Response screen field)

Displays the user name of the person who submitted the transaction.